The Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia

Report 52:

Treaties tabled in March 2003

Singapore - Australia Free Trade Agreement Amendments to the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Sewage from Ships (revised) Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-fouling Systems on Ships

Joint Standing Committee on Treaties

June 2003 Canberra © Commonwealth of Australia 2003 ISBN 0 642 78437 X

Contents

nbership of the Committee	Vii
olution of Appointment	ix
of abbreviations	X
of recommendations	xiii
Introduction	1
Purpose of Report	1
Briefing documents	2
Conduct of the Committee's review	2
Singapore - Australia Free Trade Agreement	3
Background	3
The inquiry process	5
Outline of Chapter	5
Bilateral and multilateral trade liberalisation	6
Flexibility of bilateral agreements	7
Purpose as a template treaty	7
Features of the Agreement	7
Trade in goods	8
Rules of origin	8
Customs procedures	12
Technical regulations and sanitary and phytosanitary measures	13
Government procurement	13
(olution of Appointment of abbreviations of recommendations Introduction Purpose of Report Briefing documents Conduct of the Committee's review Singapore - Australia Free Trade Agreement Background The inquiry process Outline of Chapter Bilateral and multilateral trade liberalisation Flexibility of bilateral agreements Purpose as a template treaty Features of the Agreement Trade in goods Rules of origin Customs procedures Technical regulations and sanitary and phytosanitary measures

Trade in services	14
Investment	18
Financial services	19
Telecommunication services	21
Movement of business people	21
Competition policy	22
Intellectual property	23
Electronic commerce	24
Education cooperation	24
Dispute settlement	26
Final provisions	30
Review of provisions	30
Reservations	32
Cultural reservations	33
Treaty costs and benefits	34
Goods	35
Services	36
Mutual recognition agreements	40
Air services	42
Impact of SAFTA on States and Territories	43
Consultation with States and Territories	46
Consultation	49
Other Issues	51
Impact on Australian sovereignty	51
Labour rights and environmental standards	52
Conclusions	52
Introduction of legislation before the Committee has considered the proposed treaty action .	53
Amendments to the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora	57

Introduction	57
Impact of the Amendments	59
Seahorses	59
Other issues arising	60
African elephants	60

3

	Consultation	61
	Entry into force	61
	Concluding observations	
4	MARPOL 73/78: Annex IV - Regulations for the Prevention Sewage from Ships (revised)	
	Introduction	63
	Background	64
	Environmental concerns	64
	Operation of the Annex	65
	Industry impact	67
	Consultation	68
	Entry into force	69
	Concluding observations and Recommendation	70
5	International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-for Ships (the AFS Convention)	
	Introduction	73
	Anti-fouling Systems	74
	Effects of TBT	74
	Environmental concerns	74
	Health impacts	75
	Implementation	76
	Obligations	77
	Impact on States and Territories	78
	Industry impact	78
	Costs	79
	Consultation	80
	Entry into Force	80
	Concluding observations	81
•	pendix A – Additional Comments by Hon Dick Adams MP pendix B – Additional Comments by Senator Gavin Marshall	
	nator Andrew Bartlett	

V

Appendix C - Se	ubmissions
Appendix D - W	litnesses
Appendix E - Ex	xhibits
Appendix F – P	arties consulted

Membership of the Committee

Chair	Ms Julie Bishop MP
-------	--------------------

Deputy Chair Mr Kim Wilkie MP

Members The Hon Dick Adams MP

Mr Kerry Bartlett MP Mr Steven Ciobo MP

Mr Martyn Evans MP

Mr Greg Hunt MP

Mr Peter King MP

The Hon Bruce Scott MP

Senator Andrew Bartlett Senator Linda Kirk Senator Gavin Marshall Senator Brett Mason Senator Santo Santoro Senator Ursula Stephens Senator Tsebin Tchen

Committee Secretariat

Secretary	Gillian Gould
Inquiry Secretary	Julia Morris
Research Officers	Jennifer Cochran
	Paul Shepherd
Administrative Officers	Frances Wilson
	Kristine Sidley

Resolution of Appointment

The Resolution of Appointment of the Joint Standing Committee on Treaties allows it to inquire into and report on:

- a) matters arising from treaties and related National Interest Analyses and proposed treaty actions presented or deemed to be presented to the Parliament;
- b) any question relating to a treaty or other international instrument, whether or not negotiated to completion, referred to the Committee by:
 - (i) either House of the Parliament, or
 - (ii) a Minister; and
- c) such other matters as may be referred to the Committee by the Minister for Foreign Affairs and on such conditions as the Minister may prescribe.

List of abbreviations

ACCD	Australian Council for Cultural Diversity
ACTU	Australian Council of Trade Unions
AFC	Australian Film Commission
AFS	Anti-fouling Systems
AFTINET	Australia's Free Trade and Investment Network
AMSA	Australian Maritime Safety Authority
AMWU	Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union
ANZCERTA	Australia New Zealand Closer Economic Relations Agreement
APEC	Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation
ASFTA	Australia-Singapore Free Trade Agreement
AUSFTA	Australia-United States Free Trade Agreement
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
CITES	Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Flora and Fauna
СРА	Competition Principles Agreement
DFAT	Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

ETIS	Elephant Trade Information System
FTA	Free Trade Agreement
GATT	General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
GATS	General Agreement on Trade in Services
GPA	Agreement on Government Procurement
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
ICSID	International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes
IMO	International Maritime Organization
IPPAs	Investment Promotion and Protection Agreements
JSCOT	Joint Standing Committee on Treaties
MARPOL 73/78	Annex IV: Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Sewage from Ships (revised) of the Protocol of 1978 Relating to the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships
MEAA	Media, Arts and Entertainment Alliance
MIKE	Monitoring the Illegal Killing of Elephants
MRA	Market Research Analysis
NAFTA	North Atlantic Free Trade Agreement
NATA	National Association of Testing Authorities
NIA	National Interest Analysis
NTC	National Trade Consultations
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
RIS	Regulation Impact Statement
ROOs	Rules of Origin

SAFTA	Singapore-Australia Free Trade Agreement
SCOT	Standing Committee on Transport
SMEs	Small-to-medium-sized enterprises
TCO	Tariff Concession Orders
TBT	Tributyl tin
TPNs	Third Party Notes
UN	United Nations
UNCITRAL	United Nations Commission on International Trade Law
US	United States

World Trade Organization

WTO

List of recommendations

Singapore Australia Free Trade Agreement

Recommendation 1

That, in recognition of the concerns held by members of the Australian public and non-government organisations, there be an opportunity for greater public involvement in the consultation process leading up to the first review of SAFTA.

Recommendation 2

The Committee supports the Singapore-Australia Free Trade Agreement, and recommends that binding treaty action be taken.

MARPOL 73/78: Annex IV - Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Sewage from Ships (revised)

Recommendation 3

The Committee supports Annex IV of the Protocol of 1978 relating to the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as amended (MARPOL 73/78), done at London, 17 February 1978, revised text adopted at London, 13 March 2000, and recommends that binding treaty action be taken.

Recommendation 4

The Committee recommends that the role of the Committee be recognised by ensuring that, unless notice or reasons are provided, the Committee conclude its review of proposed treaty actions prior to the introduction of any enabling legislation.

International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-fouling Systems on Ships (the AFS Convention)

Recommendation 5

The Committee supports the International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-fouling Systems on Ships and recommends that binding treaty action be taken.

1

Introduction

Purpose of Report

- 1.1 This report contains advice to Parliament on the review by the Joint Standing Committee on Treaties of a series of proposed treaty actions tabled on 4 March 2003¹ specifically:
 - Singapore Australia Free Trade Agreement, done at Singapore on 17 February 2003, and associated Exchange of Notes;
 - Amendments, done at Santiago, in November 2002, to Appendices I And II of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora, of 3 March 1973;
 - Annex IV: Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Sewage from Ships (revised) of the Protocol of 1978 Relating to the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as Amended (MARPOL 73/78), done at London, 17 February 1978, revised text adopted at London, 13 March 2000;
 - International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-fouling Systems on Ships, done at London on 18 October 2001.

¹ See Senate Journal, 4 March 2003, p. 513-1514 and House of Representatives Votes and Proceedings, 4 March 2003, p. 753-754.

Briefing documents

- 1.2 The advice in this report refers to National Interest Analyses (NIAs) prepared for these proposed treaty actions. Copies of NIAs are available from the Committee's website at http://www.aph.gov.au/house/committee/jsct/index.htm or may be obtained from the Committee Secretariat. These documents were prepared by the Government agency (or agencies) responsible for the administration of Australia's responsibilities under each treaty.
- 1.3 Copies of treaty actions and NIAs can also be obtained from the Australian Treaties Library maintained on the internet by the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT). The Australian Treaties Library is accessible through the Committee's website or directly at <u>http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/other/dfat</u>

Conduct of the Committee's review

- 1.4 The Committee's review of the treaty actions canvassed in this report was advertised in the national press and on the Committee's website.² In addition, letters inviting comment were sent to all State Premiers and Chief Ministers and to individuals who have expressed an interest in being kept informed of proposed treaty actions such as these. A list of submissions and their authors is at Appendix A.
- 1.5 The Committee also took evidence at public hearings held on 24 March and 16 June 2003 A list of witnesses who gave evidence at the public hearing is at Appendix B. A transcript of evidence from the public hearing can be obtained from the Committee Secretariat or accessed through the Committee's internet site at <u>http://www.aph.gov.au/house/committee/jsct/index.htm</u>

² The Committee's review of the proposed treaty actions was advertised in *The Australian* on 19 March 2003. Members of the public were advised on how to obtain relevant information and invited to submit their views to the Committee.

2

Singapore-Australia Free Trade Agreement

Background

- 2.1 The Singapore Australia Free Trade Agreement done at Singapore on 17 February 2003, and associated Exchange of Notes (SAFTA) is the first bilateral free trade Agreement (FTA) that Australia has signed since the Australia New Zealand Closer Economic Relations Trade Agreement of 1983.¹ The Prime Ministers of Australia and Singapore agreed to commence negotiations on an FTA at a meeting of the Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation forum on 15 November 2000.
- 2.2 In 2001-02 Singapore was Australia's seventh largest trading partner. Australian export of goods to Singapore was valued at A\$4.9 billion and export of services was valued at A\$2.2 billion. Australia had a merchandise trade surplus of almost A\$1 billion and a service trade deficit of A\$8 million.²

While the Singaporean economy experienced a significant dip in the wake of the East Asian economic crisis, a return to traditionally high levels of growth is predicted. The potential for increased exports of services (particularly financial, telecommunications, legal, educational and professional) to

¹ Stephen Deady, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 1.

² Regulation Impact Statement (RIS), p. 1.

Singapore was identified by a number of the Australian companies consulted during the negotiations for SAFTA.³

- 2.3 The trade in goods between Australia and Singapore is currently very open, however, Australian service exporters face a range of barriers and regulatory conditions that affect their ability to penetrate the Singaporean market.⁴
- 2.4 SAFTA will liberalise and facilitate trade and investment between Australia and Singapore, and contribute to the on-going efforts of both parties to liberalise their trade relations. At the time of writing Australia is negotiating bilateral FTAs with Thailand and the United States. Since 2002 Singapore has signed FTAs with Japan and New Zealand. With respect to the United States:

The negotiations on the Agreement...concluded shortly after our own negotiations with Singapore. That agreement with the US has not yet been signed; it is still going through the legal-vetting processes in both Singapore and the US.⁵

- 2.5 Under SAFTA, each Party will eliminate tariffs on the import of those goods from the other Party that meet the Rules of Origin (ROOs) criteria. Each Party will also grant national treatment and market access to the services, and national treatment to the investments, of the other Party, except where specific measures or individual sectors are reserved.⁶
- 2.6 The Committee was advised that SAFTA also contains specific commitments on intellectual property protection, customs procedures, electronic commerce, arrangements for the acceptance of the equivalence of mandatory requirements, competition policy, government procurement, business travel and education cooperation that will further facilitate trade and investment.⁷
- 2.7 As the first FTA signed by Australia for twenty years and in light of the current negotiations of an FTA with Thailand, DFAT claimed that SAFTA provides:

³ National Interest Analysis (NIA), para. 5.

⁴ RIS, p. 1.

⁵ Stephen Deady, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 3. The committee has since been advised by the United States (US) Embassy that the Agreement has been signed by the President and at the time of writing, is awaiting ratification.

⁶ NIA, paras. 3, 10.

⁷ NIA, para. 4.

a very good template for further bilateral free trade agreements that may be negotiated between Australia and other countries in the Asia-Pacific region.⁸

The inquiry process

- 2.8 As with the three other proposed treaty actions discussed in this report, SAFTA was advertised in *The Australian* newspaper on 19 March 2003. The Committee also wrote to a wide range of interested parties, inviting submissions. These parties are listed at Appendix F. Of the 30 submissions which were received in relation to the review of Treaties tabled in March, 28 concerned SAFTA. The first public hearing was held on 24 March. Issues that arose from submissions received subsequent to that date were collated and presented to the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade for comment on 3 June. The responses, received on 10 June, were authorised as Submission 3.1 to the inquiry. A further public hearing was held on 16 June to receive further evidence on those issues.⁹
- 2.9 While the Committee is aware that there are significant concerns in the Australian community as a result of this Agreement, especially given its widely accepted status as a 'template' treaty for future free trade Agreements, it believes that the range of issues dealt with in this report should answer most concerns effectively, and that concerns about any future Agreement should be considered by assessing each proposed FTA on its own merit.

Outline of Chapter

2.10 Initially the Chapter will consider trade liberalisation issues in general before examining each Chapter of the Agreement in turn. The dispute resolution mechanisms and the review process will then be discussed. The Committee has a long-standing interest in issues concerning consultation processes for treaty actions agreed to by Australia, and has sought the views of States and Territories to provide a balanced understanding of the impacts that SAFTA will have beyond the Commonwealth sphere.

⁸ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 2.

⁹ The Committee acknowledges the efforts made by the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) to respond in a timely fashion on each occasion that information has been requested.

2.11 A general discussion of costs and benefits of both the goods and services elements of the treaty will then be provided, in order to assess the relative merits of the Agreement.

Bilateral and multilateral trade liberalisation

- 2.12 The Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) claimed that bilateral FTAs such as SAFTA can reinforce and extend multilateral efforts to trade liberalisation under World Trade Organization (WTO) rules.
- 2.13 Addressing the policy issue of the efficacy of multilateral and bilateral approaches to achieving trade liberalisation, DFAT affirmed Australia's:

broad approach to trade policy has been for many years the pursuit of multilateral liberalisation, strong support for the multilateral negotiations, very strong support for APEC and pursuit of regional liberalisation in those areas, and that remains fundamental.¹⁰

2.14 However, DFAT cited the problems of the WTO Ministerial Conference in Seattle (November and December 1999) as indicative of the difficulties associated with achieving multilateral trade liberalisation, and stated that:

> in order to ensure the prosecution of the interests of Australian industry and exporters, we would be aggressively pursuing opportunities wherever they arose. That included a move to looking at bilateral [FTAs], where they could deliver benefits to Australia in a shorter time frame, with countries that would pursue them in ways that would be truly comprehensive and liberalising and would reinforce the multilateral rules.¹¹

2.15 Emphasising Australia's commitment to negotiating bilateral FTAs that complement and progress multilateral trade liberalisation, DFAT advised that:

The Australian government was open to looking at bilateral [FTAs] with Japan and China ... However, neither of those

¹⁰ Stephen Deady, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 5.

¹¹ Stephen Deady, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 5.

7

countries is really prepared at this point in time to embrace the full comprehensiveness required ... to be compatible, in our view, with WTO rules.¹²

2.16 The Committee notes the failure of the WTO's Doha round of talks to meet its deadline of 31 March 2003 as further evidence that Australia should not rely solely on multilateral trade liberalisation and that, when opportunities arise, fully comprehensive bilateral FTAs that serve the national interest should be pursued.

Flexibility of bilateral agreements

- 2.17 An example of how a bilateral agreement such as SAFTA can promote the liberalisation of trade beyond extant multilateral commitments can be found in the Agreement's prohibition of tariffs on trade in agricultural goods between the parties.
- 2.18 DFAT acknowledged that neither party actually provides export subsidies to agriculture.¹³ Nevertheless, SAFTA reinforces Australia's international stance on comprehensive trade liberalisation and particularly the trade in agricultural goods.

Purpose as a template treaty

2.19 A further function of the agreement to prohibit tariffs on trade in agricultural goods refers to SAFTA's role as a template treaty. It signals Australia's intentions to other countries in the Asia-Pacific region that may be candidates for bilateral FTAs. SAFTA:

could give a strong message to the region about the possible benefits and the shape of [other] FTAs but also reinforce both Singapore and Australia's very strong support for the multilateral system to genuinely open economies...¹⁴

Features of the Agreement

2.20 The Regulation Impact Statement provided by the Department of Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade states that the Chapter headings

¹² Stephen Deady, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 6.

¹³ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 9.

¹⁴ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 3.

in SAFTA 'give an indication of the issues that were the focus of the negotiations'. 15

- 2.21 The Committee understands that the primary benefit to Australia from SAFTA will flow from the liberalisation of trade in services between the parties.
- 2.22 National treatment and market access obligations will not apply to Australian States and Territories until the first review of SAFTA, at which time reservations covering the States and Territories may be incorporated into the Annexes of the Agreement. The impact of SAFTA on State and Territory governments will be discussed later in the Chapter.

Trade in goods

- 2.23 Chapter 2 of SAFTA obliges parties to:
 - eliminate all customs duties on goods originating in the territory of the other party that meet the rule of origin requirements (discussed below);
 - prohibit export subsidies on all goods, including agricultural goods;
 - establish practices in anti-dumping cases such as setting the time frame in determining the volume of dumped imports, and notification requirements; and
 - not take WTO safeguard measures against each other.
- 2.24 The Chapter also contains standard provisions, on customs valuation and non-tariff barriers for example, which the Committee was advised are standard FTA articles and which reflect established WTO rules. There are also standard security and general exceptions, for example for measures 'necessary to protect human, animal or plant life or health'.¹⁶

Rules of origin

2.25 SAFTA specifies rules of origin at Chapter 3. Rules of origin (ROOs) determine the criteria under which imports into Australia and Singapore qualify for preferential tariff treatment under SAFTA.

¹⁵ RIS, p. 4.

¹⁶ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 1.

- 2.26 The Committee was advised that, for most products, origin is conferred where the local content represents at least 50 per cent of the ex-factory cost of production.
- 2.27 Annex 2D of SAFTA lists around 100 items (mainly electrical and electronic goods) that require a local content of 30 per cent to achieve origin status.¹⁷ In addition, Australia agreed that products subject to Tariff Concession Orders would also be allowed a 30 per cent local content to achieve origin status.¹⁸
- 2.28 The Committee was advised that the rules of origin in SAFTA are based on the Australia New Zealand Closer Economic Relations Agreement (ANZCERTA) formula model, although the 30 per cent rule of origin provisions are not part of that Agreement.
- 2.29 DFAT stated that Australian industry was particularly concerned that the rules of origin provisions of SAFTA were adequate to ensure the exclusion from treaty benefits of products that did not originate from Singapore.

Accumulation

2.30 Under SAFTA, local content may be calculated on the basis of accumulation, which allows for the manufacturing process in one country to be interrupted by offshore processing as long as the product remains in the control of an individual manufacturer before and after the offshore processing. Accumulation applies to all products except textiles, clothing and footwear, passenger motor vehicles and jewellery products; a list of designated products is at Annex 2C of the Agreement:¹⁹

What we have done for Singapore is that, if 25 per cent was value added in Singapore to begin with, then 50 per cent was added in one of the Indonesian islands and a further 25 per

¹⁷ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 9.

¹⁸ Tariff Concession Orders are granted to importers of goods for which there is no local substitute.

¹⁹ Annex 2: Obligations, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 1. According to the RIS, p. 8: 'The textiles, clothing and footwear and passenger motor vehicle sectors were excluded from the accumulation rule, since it was considered inappropriate to offer ROOs concessions to Singapore in these relatively highly protected Australian sectors. The jewellery sector was also excluded from the accumulation rule because of concerns that jewellery made outside Singapore would qualify as Singaporean in origin if made from high-value Australian/Singaporean precious metals.'

cent was added at the end, that would meet the 50 per cent test for Singapore.²⁰

Impact on Australian manufacturing industries

2.31 The Australian Council of Trade Unions (ACTU), in its submission, expressed concern that the accumulation rule with regard to outward processing would mean that goods manufactured in states with lowcost labour resulting from lack of core labour standards would be imported without tariffs under SAFTA:

> the goods of many Singaporean companies are manufactured in part in Indonesia, and other offshore processing zones, where labour is cheap and adherence to labour standards questionable.²¹

2.32 The ACTU suggested that a review of the 30 per cent rule be conducted in this context, recommending that:

the 50 per cent content rule should be at least maintained in bilateral agreements to which Australia is a party, subject to a review of its adequacy in the context of significant use of offshore processing in cheap labour countries.²²

2.33 The Committee was advised that the impact of granting 30 per cent on certain electrical and electronic products was examined in conjunction with Australian industry, and that:

As the products subject to Tariff Concession Orders are deemed to be not made in Australia, the impact on Australian industry of the 30 per cent rule on TCO products ... would be a beneficial one of having access to imported inputs at lower costs.²³

2.34 DFAT advised the Committee that, taking into account that the rule allowed only the accumulation of value added in Singapore and not in any third country, the measure did not represent any substantial concerns in terms of additional competition from Singapore for the products listed and that the rule would not have any substantial additional adverse affects on Australian industry.

²⁰ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 10.

²¹ Australian Council of Trade Unions (ACTU), Submission 21, p. 2.

²² ACTU, Submission 21, p. 2.

²³ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 10.

- 2.35 DFAT in its second submission advised that the 30 per cent rule in SAFTA was negotiated in the context of the Agreement with Singapore, recognising the 'special circumstances of Singaporean manufacturing'²⁴ and in response to the particular circumstances of Singapore industry, and that it would not necessarily be part of the Government's other FTA negotiations.²⁵
- 2.36 The Committee was also advised in relation to rules of origin negotiations in other FTAs that the Government's position:

is being developed in very close consultation with interested industry sectors, taking into account analysis of the potential impact of rules under consideration.²⁶

2.37 The Committee was advised that, in making these assessments, DFAT took account of the compliance provisions that were incorporated in SAFTA, discussed below, to ensure that the rules of origin are strictly observed.

Certification and compliance

- 2.38 DFAT outlined the dual certification regime agreed to by the Parties for goods to claim origin status, to ensure that they are being applied properly by each country. Firstly, the onus is on the exporter to certify that goods meet the required conditions. Secondly, the exporter must obtain a certificate of origin issued by a government agency in Singapore.²⁷ Certificates of origin are valid for a two year period and must accompany each shipment.
- 2.39 Australian authorities may request documentation supporting the certificate of origin if they are not satisfied that goods exported from Singapore meet rules of origin requirements.²⁸
- 2.40 In contrast to SAFTA, the United States (US)-Singapore FTA provides that:

claims by an importer for preferential treatment under the Agreement be based on the importer's knowledge that the good qualifies as an originating good, or be based on information in the importer's possession that the good

²⁴ RIS, p. 8.

²⁵ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 11.

²⁶ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 11.

²⁷ Richard Bush, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 10.

²⁸ Richard Bush, Transcript of Evidence, p. 11.

qualifies as an originating good. The importer must submit, on request, a statement setting forth the reasons that the good qualifies as an originating good, including pertinent cost and manufacturing information.²⁹

- 2.41 DFAT advised that the US-Singapore FTA, unlike SAFTA, has no requirement for a second certificate of origin.³⁰
- 2.42 The Committee was interested in the negotiations on the ROOs to apply under the proposed Australia-US FTA. DFAT advised that a final outcome has not been reached and negotiations are continuing.

The US has proposed a product specific approach (along similar lines to the system used in its other FTAs) whereas Australia has proposed the ANZCERTA formula model.³¹

2.43 The Committee was also advised that an extensive process of consultations with relevant industry sectors with respect to options and their potential impact is being undertaken by DFAT in collaboration with other government departments.³²

Customs procedures

- 2.44 Chapter 4 of SAFTA commits parties to:
 - provide each other with information that assists in the investigation and prevention of customs law infringements;
 - work towards having electronic means for all its customs reporting requirements as soon as practicable ('paperless trading');
 - provide electronic systems that support business applications between each customs administration and its trading community; and
 - share best practices and to use and develop risk management techniques.³³

²⁹ DFAT, Submission 3, p. 1.

³⁰ Richard Bush, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 10.

³¹ DFAT, *Submission 3.1*, p. 11.

³² DFAT, Submission 3.1, pp. 11-12.

³³ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 2.

Technical regulations and sanitary and phytosanitary measures

- 2.45 Under Article 10 of Chapter 5, Parties shall conclude as appropriate sectoral annexes providing for arrangements for the acceptance of the equivalence of mandatory requirements for sanitary and phytosanitary protection.³⁴
- 2.46 The Committee understands that this Chapter builds on the *Mutual Recognition Agreement on Conformity Assessment between Australia and Singapore (2001).* The Committee also understands that this Chapter commits the Parties to endeavour to develop a work program and mechanism for cooperative activities in the areas on technical assistance and capacity building to address plant, animal and public health and food safety issues of mutual interest.³⁵

Government procurement

- 2.47 Chapter 6 of SAFTA describes conditions of access to Australian and Singaporean government procurement markets. It obliges each Party to provide suppliers of the other Party treatment no less favourable than treatment afforded domestic suppliers in procurement by a specified list of agencies (listed at Annexes 3A and 3B).
- 2.48 The Committee was advised that Australia's listed agencies comprise Commonwealth agencies covered by the *Financial Management and Accountability Act 1997.* Singapore has listed the agencies covered in its membership obligations under the WTO Agreement on Government Procurement (GPA).
- 2.49 Chapter 6 includes:
 - requirements for transparent tendering procedures, including nondiscriminatory, timely and transparent access to an administrative or judiciary body to hear or review complaints of alleged breaches of its laws and practices in relation to government procurement;
 - the protection of confidential information and intellectual property supplied in the course of tendering for contracts; and
 - the exemption of procurement policies in relation to industry development including measures to assist small and medium enterprises and the promotion of opportunities for indigenous people.

³⁴ NIA, para. 25.

³⁵ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 2.

2.50 The RIS states that various types of procurement, for example overseas development assistance, are excluded from SAFTA, and that:

exceptions exist, *inter alia*, for defence equipment, environmental measures, and the use of government procurement for industry development purposes, including measures to assist small-to-medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). The TPNs [Third Party Notes] note that such SME assistance measures include those currently listed in the *Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines (Guidelines)*. In essence, the Agreement does not require any change to the *Guidelines*, as the *Guidelines* are based on the value-for-money principle of which non-discrimination is an implicit part.³⁶

Trade in services

- 2.51 The Committee understands that the substantive obligations in Chapter 7 of SAFTA are largely based on provisions of the WTO General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) but it contains strengthened disciplines in some areas.³⁷ SAFTA achieves an improved market environment for Australian exporters of services to Singapore by providing them with national treatment and improved market access.
- 2.52 The Committee understands that the market access obligation prohibits six forms of limitation on market access (e.g., limitations on the number of service suppliers or the total value of services transactions or assets).³⁸ National treatment measures require that each party extend conditions no less favourable to services and service providers of the other party than it does to its domestic services and service providers. Improved market access is achieved through the prohibition of limits on market access such as limits on the number of service providers and total values of services, transactions or assets. Some gains are listed in the table, provided by DFAT. The impact on States and Territories will be discussed separately.

³⁶ RIS, p. 15.

³⁷ From Annex 2: Obligations, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 3.

³⁸ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 3.

A GATS-plus Agreement: the 'negative list' approach

- 2.53 As the scope of the market access and national treatment obligations is wider than under the GATS, DFAT describes SAFTA as a 'GATSplus' agreement.³⁹ One key way in which SAFTA provides a more liberal trade regime than GATS is the adoption of a negative rather than a positive list approach in designating services that are subject to the terms of the Agreement.
- 2.54 A positive list approach lists all sectors that would be subject to the terms of an agreement. The negative list approach excludes listed sectors and includes all others. The RIS explains that:

this approach has a liberalising and transparent thrust in that all exceptions must be specifically reserved, or they are deemed to be liberalised.⁴⁰

2.55 DFAT opined the advantages of a negative list approach over a positive list approach:

you could have exactly the same outcome in terms of actual commitments [regardless of the] approach but one of the pluses of even that outcome [under a negative list approach] would be much greater transparency from the country going through and developing a negative list.⁴¹

2.56 Sectors reserved by Australia and Singapore are listed at Annexes 4-I(A), 4-I(B), 4-II(A) and 4-II(B) of the Agreement. Annex 4-I to the FTA:

represents a standstill commitment, meaning that a Party will be able to maintain measures listed there that do not comply with the market access and/or national treatment obligations, but it will not be able to increase the trade restrictiveness of these measures.⁴²

- 2.57 Sectors listed under Annex 2 are excepted from the terms of the treaty, allowing 'sectoral carve-outs', where Parties retain the right to make them more inconsistent with agreed free trade provisions.⁴³
- 2.58 DFAT noted that in implementing a negative list approach SAFTA provided a greater degree of trade liberalisation than the positive list

³⁹ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 2.

⁴⁰ RIS, p. 10.

⁴¹ Stephen Deady, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 5.

⁴² From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 3.

⁴³ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, pp. 6-7.

approaches adopted in FTAs that Singapore had agreed with Japan and New Zealand. The negative list approach adopted in SAFTA is consistent with the terms of the FTA between Singapore and the United States.⁴⁴

2.59 The RIS states that:

SAFTA respects the rights of governments to adopt domestic regulation affecting trade in services, but contains enhanced provisions on transparency and the processes for adopting such regulations, reflecting proposals which Australia has put forward in the WTO service negotiations.⁴⁵

2.60 Other similarities with the GATS noted by the Committee include:

- a provision allowing for the modification of the annexes of the reservations, for example to allow the introduction of more trade restrictive measures, as long as the overall balance of each Party's commitments is maintained by agreed compensatory adjustments to the reservations;
- respect for the right of governments to adopt domestic regulation affecting trade in services, but requiring those regulations to be 'administered in a reasonable, objective and impartial manner'⁴⁶;
- provisions to ensure that monopoly service suppliers do not act inconsistently with the obligations of the Parties; and
- general and security provisions:

to ensure that the Chapter does not prevent governments from being able to adopt measures necessary for important public policy objectives such as protection of human, animal and plant life and health.⁴⁷

2.61 The Committee also notes that there is a review of commitment provision that requires Parties to consider amending their reservations annexes, in order to extend to the other Party any benefits it gives to non-Parties in other agreements or any unilateral liberalisation it undertakes. Through this provision, additional

⁴⁴ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 4.

⁴⁵ RIS, p. 11.

⁴⁶ From Annex 2: Obligations, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 3.

⁴⁷ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 4.

17

liberalisation that the Parties adopt either unilaterally or in the context of other FTAs should be assured.⁴⁸

2.62 The Committee received several submissions and form letter-style correspondence which were critical of the 'negative list' model for services and investment in free trade agreements.⁴⁹ The Committee does not accept the assertion of the Australian Fair Trade and Investment Network that the negative list 'has been decisively rejected by the community as it can lead to unintentional outcomes and undue restrictions on current and future government policies' and considers that on balance, the transparency created by having listed reservations in SAFTA is appropriate.

Provision of services

2.63 Several submissions raised concerns about definitions of 'commercial' and what 'public services' are excluded from the Agreement. The Australian Fair Trade and Investment Network, in its submission, criticised an unclear definition of 'public service':

The health, education and postal sectors provide examples of public services being provided partially by private providers in Australia.⁵⁰

- 2.64 SAFTA follows the same approach as used in the GATS of excluding services 'supplied in the exercise of government authority within the territory of each respective Party' from the coverage of the commitments in the services chapter. It also follows the GATS in defining these services to mean 'any service which is supplied neither on a commercial basis nor in competition with one or more service suppliers'.⁵¹
- 2.65 DFAT advised that:

Most services supplied by public entities in areas such as the health, education and postal sectors would fall within these definitions. However, whether a particular service provided in one of these areas fell within the scope of the definition of a service supplied in the exercise of government authority would need to be determined on a case-by-case basis.⁵²

52 DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 12.

⁴⁸ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 3.

⁴⁹ E.g. Australian Fair Trade and Investment Network (AFTINET), Submission 9, p. 5.

⁵⁰ AFTINET, Submission 9, p. 6.

⁵¹ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 12.

2.66 The Committee understands that these definitions are used to ensure that obligations under the services chapter do not affect the delivery of public services aimed at achieving important public policy objectives, while giving some protection to the obligations from being undermined through the use of public entities to provide services that are either really commercial services or are in competition with other service suppliers. DFAT advised that:

> The latter consideration can be an important issue when Australian service suppliers are competing in countries where there is significantly greater public intervention or ownership than is the case in Australia.⁵³

2.67 DFAT explained that:

The obligations of the services chapter will only apply to that part of the economy that involves the provision of services on a commercial or a competitive basis. In Australia, as in most other countries, sectors such as health, education and postal/courier services, involve a mix of both services provided on a commercial/competitive basis and services provided on a non-commercial/non-competitive basis and this mix can change over time. For this reason the services chapter of SAFTA does not exclude particular sectors – such as health or education – from its scope, but a particular type of service in any sector, i.e. services provided in the exercise of government authority.⁵⁴

2.68 The Committee was advised that in cases where a service that falls within the scope of the services chapter is provided by a public entity, it has been possible to remove Annex 4 reservations to give cover to any measures which do not comply with the market access and national treatment obligations of the Chapter.⁵⁵

Investment

2.69 Chapter 8 of SAFTA covers both the pre-establishment and postestablishment stages of investment and includes provision on the protection of investors against expropriation and on compensation for losses.⁵⁶ The Committee understands that:

⁵³ DFAT, *Submission 3.1*, p. 12.

⁵⁴ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 12-13.

⁵⁵ DFAT, *Submission 3.1*, p. 13.

⁵⁶ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 4.

These obligations require a standard of treatment of Singapore investors and their investments which is no higher than that which one would generally expect these investors, and Australian investors, to enjoy under Australia's domestic legal requirements and current policy framework.⁵⁷

2.70 Chapter 8 of SAFTA requires each Party to permit all funds of an investor of the other Party related to an investment in its territory to be transferred freely and without undue delay. The Chapter allows exceptions in cases relating to, for example, bankruptcy, criminal offences and compulsory saving schemes. The Chapter also prohibits expropriation of an investment except when taken on a non-discriminatory basis, for a public purpose, in accordance with due process of law and is accompanied by prompt, adequate and effective compensation equivalent to the fair market value. The Committee notes that:

reflecting Singapore's sensitivity, the expropriation of land is subject to a weaker discipline requiring that such appropriation be for a purpose, and that compensation be paid, in accordance with the relevant domestic law.⁵⁸

- 2.71 The Committee understands that, as in Chapter 7, specific reservations have been made to the national treatment obligation through 'negative listing' of measures in Annex 4-I of the FTA or sectors, sub-sectors or activities in Annex 4-II. These annexes are subject to similar modification and review provisions as those in Chapter 7.
- 2.72 The Chapter also provides for an investor-state dispute settlement procedure, such that where an investor alleges that a Party has breached one of its obligations under the Chapter in a way that causes loss or damage may be referred for settlement. Dispute resolution procedures are discussed later in this Chapter.

Financial services

2.73 Although financial services are substantially dealt with in the chapters on Trades in Services (Chapter 7) and Investment (Chapter 8), Chapter 9 contains additional provisions that reflect the importance of adequate regulation of this sector. These provisions

⁵⁷ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 7.

⁵⁸ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 4.

recognise the right of parties to regulate for prudential reasons, and draw on specific WTO provisions relating to the GATS.⁵⁹

- 2.74 The Committee was advised that Parties are required to ensure that regulatory measures do not discriminate against providers of the other party, should not be more burdensome than necessary and should not be a disguised restriction to trade.
- 2.75 The Chapter includes a provision which prohibits the Parties from preventing the transfer, including electronically, or processing of financial information where this is necessary for the conduct of ordinary business of a financial service provider. DFAT advised that this provision is taken from the WTO understanding on Commitments in Financial Services, in which Australia, but not Singapore, is a participant.⁶⁰
- 2.76 DFAT advised that:

In relation to financial services, Singapore ... is fairly liberal when it comes to investment banking or merchant banking, and quite a range of international banks, including Australian banks, are involved there ... In relation to full banking services, full retail banking, it is quite restricted and we have no additional benefits from this Agreement.⁶¹

2.77 However, full retail banking:

was not an area where Australian banks said they wanted to go into Singapore ... It is just too competitive a market.⁶²

- 2.78 In the area of wholesale banking, which involves the provision of banking services to financial institutions, Singapore has committed to lifting a quota restriction on the number of licences within four years of the entry into force of SAFTA as well as greater transparency of its regulatory regime.⁶³
- 2.79 DFAT stated that if Singapore:

⁵⁹ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 5.

⁶⁰ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 5.

⁶¹ Milton Churche, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 16.

⁶² Milton Churche, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 16.

⁶³ Milton Churche, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 16.
reached a better deal with the US on lifting the quota for wholesale banking licences – that that deal [will] be extended to Australia.⁶⁴

Telecommunication services

- 2.80 Requirements under Chapter 10 of SAFTA include that:
 - all service providers of the other Party have access to and use of any public telecommunications network or service offered in its territory or across its borders in a timely fashion and on reasonable, transparent and non-discriminatory terms;
 - Parties maintain competitive safeguards including ensuring that major suppliers provide interconnection on timely, cost based and non-discriminatory terms;
 - interconnection rates be determined by negotiation;
 - decisions in interconnection disputes are transparent;⁶⁵
 - service providers with major supplier status (such as Telstra) provide access to telecommunications networks on an unbundled basis, physical co-location of equipment and resale of services;
 - Parties facilitate the involvement of providers of public telecommunications networks and services from the other party in the development of industry standards, and where appropriate, the regulation of the telecommunications industry; and
 - regulators aim to resolve interconnection disputes within 180 days of referral, and in complex cases where resolutions may take longer than 180 days, to provide interim determinations where necessary.

Movement of business people

- 2.81 This Chapter sets out commitments for facilitating temporary entry for business people engaged in bilateral trade and investment. Under the Chapter, each Party agrees to:
 - provide entry to business visitors from the other party for up to three months (currently Australia grants three months stay to

⁶⁴ Milton Churche, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 16.

⁶⁵ The Committee notes that several provisions in this Chapter are similar or identical to the commitments by both Parties under the Fourth Protocol of General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS).

Singaporean visitors; Australian visitors to Singapore are granted one month's initial stay);

- grant the spouses and dependents of long-term business visitors from the other party the right to work as managers, executives, specialists or office administrators (Australia currently affords those rights);
- process applications for immigration formalities expeditiously;
- not allow the initiation of dispute settlement procedures in relation to a refusal to grant temporary entry unless the matter involves a pattern of practice or the natural persons affected have exhausted all domestic remedies regarding the matter; and
- not require labour market testing or similar procedures as a condition for temporary entry.
- 2.82 Singapore has undertaken to allow Australian inter-corporate transferees to Singapore residential rights for an initial period of two years. Australia has undertaken to allow their Singaporean counterparts an initial period of four years residence in Australia, and these periods are extendable for a total of 14 years.⁶⁶

Competition policy

- 2.83 Chapter 12 of SAFTA obliges each party to promote competition by addressing anti-competitive practices in its territory. Parties are required to apply competition principles and regulatory measures in a non-discriminatory, transparent and fair manner, including taking reasonable measures to ensure that government-owned businesses do not receive any competitive advantages in their business activities as a result of being government-owned.
- 2.84 Each party has agreed to consult with the other on measures and means for the elimination of anti-competitive practices affecting bilateral trade or investment. The parties have undertaken to conduct formal consultations once a generic competition law comes into effect in Singapore.
- 2.85 The ACTU, in its submission, refers to the lower costs of finance available to government-owned businesses due to their access to government guarantees, and expresses concern that a competitive advantage might be available on these grounds. The Committee

⁶⁶ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 7.

understands that this issue is addressed by the Intergovernmental Competition Principles Agreement (CPA), concluded by the Commonwealth, States and Territories in 1995. Under clause 3(4) of the CPA, the parties are required to impose debt guarantee fees on government business enterprises directed towards offsetting the competitive advantages provided by government guarantees. Clause 7 of the CPA extends this obligation to local government.⁶⁷

2.86 The Committee notes that dispute settlement provisions of SAFTA will not apply to this Chapter.⁶⁸

Intellectual property

- 2.87 Chapter 13 of SAFTA obliges the parties to cooperate with one another with a view to eliminating trade in goods that infringe intellectual property rights. Intellectual property rights include electronic copies of works, sound recordings and cinematographic films.
- 2.88 The parties undertake:
 - on receipt of complaints or information to take measures to prevent the export of goods that infringe copyright or trade marks;
 - to notify the other party of contact points;
 - to exchange information between relevant agencies and policy dialogue on initiatives for the enforcement of intellectual property rights in multilateral and regional forums;
 - to exchange information and material on programs pertaining to intellectual property rights education and awareness and to the commercialisation of intellectual property and to develop contacts and cooperation between their respective government agencies, educational institutions and other organisations; and
 - to accede or ratify the World Intellectual Property Organisation Copyright Treaty and its Performances and Phonograms Treaty within four years of the entry into force of SAFTA subject to the completion of domestic requirements in each party.
- 2.89 DFAT commented that SAFTA 'certainly strengthens ... [intellectual property] significantly.'69

⁶⁷ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 13.

⁶⁸ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 8.

Electronic commerce

- 2.90 Key provisions of Chapter 14 of SAFTA oblige the Parties to:
 - maintain zero customs duties on electronic transmissions between the Parties;
 - maintain domestic legal frameworks that minimise the regulatory burden on electronic commerce;
 - support industry-led development of electronic commerce and provide protection for consumers using electronic commerce that is at least equivalent to consumers of other forms of commerce; and
 - make publicly available electronic versions of all existing publicly available versions of trade administration documents by 2005.

Education cooperation

- 2.91 Chapter 15 of SAFTA provides a framework for the Parties to encourage cooperation between their educational institutions in a number of areas including technical education and vocational training, distance education and teacher training. It commits the governments of Australia and Singapore to consider exchanges of teachers, researchers and students and the development of collaborative projects.⁷⁰
- 2.92 It contains an obligation that each Party is obliged to allow its scholarships for overseas studies to be tenable at universities in the territory of the other Party.

Qualifications in law

- 2.93 Annex 4-III(II) of SAFTA provides for an increase in the number Australian universities that may provide qualifications to a citizen or permanent resident of Singapore allowing them to practice law in Singapore.
- 2.94 Prior to the entry into force of SAFTA, Singapore recognised law degrees from four Australian universities:
 - Monash University;
 - the University of Melbourne;

⁶⁹ Stephen Deady, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 21.

⁷⁰ Annex 2: Obligations, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 9.

- the University of New South Wales; and
- the University of Sydney.
- 2.95 SAFTA adds four universities to this list:
 - the Australian National University;
 - Flinders University;
 - the University of Queensland; and
 - the University of Western Australia.⁷¹
- 2.96 DFAT informed the Committee that Australia commenced negotiations assuming the equal merit of degrees from all Australian law schools. The achievement of the recognition of qualifications from an additional four law schools represents an initial in-road to Singapore's very restrictive approach in this area.⁷²
- 2.97 The Committee was advised that the process of selecting the four institutions proposed for recognition was overseen by the Attorney-General's Department, which invited Australian law schools to indicate their interest in being so recognised.⁷³ Because the four extant law schools were all in Sydney or Melbourne:

one key consideration was ... some sort of geographical representation of all Australia.⁷⁴

- 2.98 The recognition of Australian degrees in law has been identified as a key area for the first review of the terms of the treaty that will be conducted twelve months after the entry into force of SAFTA.⁷⁵
- 2.99 In comparison with Singapore's agreement to recognise qualifications from eight Australian law schools, DFAT informed the Committee that the United States, which formerly had no recognised law schools, has secured the recognition of qualifications from four institutions under the US-Singapore FTA.⁷⁶

75 Milton Churche, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 19.

⁷¹ Milton Churche, Transcript of Evidence, p. 18.

⁷² Milton Churche, Transcript of Evidence, p. 15.

⁷³ Milton Churche, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 18.

⁷⁴ Milton Churche, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 19.

⁷⁶ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 6.

Dispute settlement

- 2.100 This Chapter provides for a dispute resolution mechanism that is intended to support the overall functioning of the Agreement, on the basis of simplicity, efficiency, timeliness and fairness, emphasising the reliance on consultative mechanisms for the resolution of disputes.⁷⁷
- 2.101 Similar types of investor-state dispute resolution processes to that contained in the investment chapter of SAFTA are to be found in the nineteen Investment Promotion and Protection Agreements (IPPAs) that have entered into force for Australia. The Committee was advised that DFAT is not aware of any formal dispute settlement procedures initiated pursuant to these Agreements, nor were specific or detailed concerns raised about the provisions on investor-state dispute settlement during the consultation processes on the negotiation of SAFTA.⁷⁸
- 2.102 The dispute resolution mechanisms in the treaty are the cause of considerable debate in the community and the Committee considered that they were worthy of more consideration.
- 2.103 The Chapter provides for the appointment of an arbitral tribunal at the request of a party where consultations have failed to settle a dispute. The tribunal will consist of three members, one each appointed by Australia and Singapore and a third, to be decided by the two initial appointees, to act as Chair. Members and the Chair of the arbitral tribunal cannot be nationals of either party.
- 2.104 The Committee understands that the investor-state dispute settlement provisions included in SAFTA contain a number of important safeguards against their abuse:

They can only be invoked against Australia in cases where a Singapore investor alleges that Australia has breached an obligation under the investment chapter of the Agreement which caused loss or damage to the investor or its investment.⁷⁹

2.105 The Committee was advised that, in the first instance, the Parties to the dispute would have to seek resolution through consultation and negotiation. If resolution does not occur within six months, either

⁷⁷ From Annex 2: Obligations, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 9.

⁷⁸ DFAT, *Submission 3.1*, p. 7.

⁷⁹ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 4.

party to the dispute may refer it to one of three fora: the courts or administrative tribunals of the disputing Party; the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID) for conciliation or arbitration; or arbitration under the rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL).⁸⁰

2.106 The Committee notes that the provision cannot be invoked if the dispute has already been submitted to Australia's courts or administrative tribunals. If an investor chose to submit the dispute to either ICSID or UNCITRAL, it would have to provide written notice waiving its right to initiate or continue any proceedings before either of the other two dispute settlement fora (including Australia's domestic courts or administrative tribunals).⁸¹

In addition, the submission of the dispute to ICSID or UNCITRAL must take place within three years of the time at which the investor became aware, or should reasonably have become aware, of a breach of an obligation under the investment chapter causing loss or damage to the investor or its investment.⁸²

2.107 Several submissions received by the Committee referred to disputes under the North Atlantic Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), and the potential for dispute measures to make Australia vulnerable to complaints by investors in Singapore. In answer to these concerns, DFAT provided the following comment, which was accepted and authorised for publication as Submission 3.2 to the Committee's inquiry:

> it is important to emphasise that while there are some commonalities between NAFTA and SAFTA, in that both provide mechanisms allowing investor-state settlement of disputes, there are also significant differences... the focus of the public debate about NAFTA has generally been on the substantive provisions that can be invoked in investor-state dispute settlement, rather on the actual investor-state dispute settlement mechanism. It is these substantive provisions that determine the extent to which a state might be subject to challenge by investors through the investor-state dispute settlement mechanism.

⁸⁰ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 4.

⁸¹ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 4.

⁸² DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 4.

One way in which the investor-state dispute settlement mechanism in SAFTA differs from that in NAFTA is the fact that the latter contains detailed, Agreement-specific, provisions on the procedural aspects of the dispute settlement mechanism. SAFTA relies on the multilaterally-agreed procedures followed by the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID) and the arbitration rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL) rather than prescribing detailed procedures specific to the Agreement.

There are general similarities between the investor-state dispute settlement mechanisms in SAFTA and NAFTA in relation to:

- the fact that they can only be invoked in cases where an investor alleges that a Party has breached an obligation under the investment chapter which causes loss or damage to the investor or its investment;
- the requirement that the dispute must be submitted to conciliation or arbitration within three years of the time at which the disputing investor became aware, or should reasonably have become aware, of a breach of an obligation causing loss or damage to the investor or its investment; and
- the requirement that the investor resorting to international arbitration must waive its right to initiate or continue any proceedings before domestic courts or administrative tribunals in relation to the matter under dispute.

These points of similarities are ones which place careful limits on the scope of the investor-state dispute settlement mechanisms and provide protection against their abuse.

A Party to SAFTA would only be vulnerable to a successful challenge under the investor-state dispute settlement provisions if it had breached its treaty obligations under the investment chapter of the Agreement. In such a situation the other Party would also be successful in a challenge using the state-to-state dispute settlement provisions. The investor-state dispute settlement provisions create the possibility for an investor of either Party to directly resort to international arbitration rather than relying on its Government to pursue the issue. However, Government measures are not vulnerable to challenge under the investor-state dispute provisions if they are not also vulnerable to challenge under the state-tostate dispute settlement provisions...the dispute settlement provisions in SAFTA provide no basis for concluding that a government measure in compliance with Australia's treaty obligations could be subject to a successful challenge.

In relation to the substantive provisions of SAFTA and NAFTA, there are both similarities and differences. One difference is in the treatment of expropriation in both SAFTA and NAFTA. In NAFTA the expropriation article (Article 1110, para 1) begins:

'No Party may directly or indirectly nationalize or expropriate an investment of an investor of another Party in its territory or take a measure tantamount to nationalization or expropriation of such an investment ('expropriation')...'

There has been concern expressed that this wording has led to some confusion as it seems to suggest that there are three types of expropriation, i.e. direct, indirect, and measures tantamount to nationalization or expropriation of such an investment. This confusion has led to some uncertainty as to the types of measures that could be subject to the expropriation article in NAFTA. By contrast, the expropriation article in the investment chapter of SAFTA (Article 9, para 1, of Chapter 8) begins:

'Neither Party shall nationalise, expropriate or subject to measures having effect equivalent to nationalisation or expropriation (hereinafter referred to as 'expropriation')...'

This formulation makes clear that the distinction being drawn is between direct expropriation and measures having effect equivalent to expropriation (i.e. indirect expropriation). This distinction is common in bilateral investment treaties, including Australia's, and it appears that the NAFTA Parties were intending to make the same distinction in their Article 1110 but the wording they adopted does not convey this unambiguously. It is notable that in its recent treaty practice the United States has moved to a formulation similar to that used by Australia in its treaties rather than to that used in NAFTA.

Given that there are a range of differences as well as similarities between SAFTA and NAFTA in relation to both the investor-state dispute settlement mechanisms and the substantive provisions of the two Agreements, it would be misleading to assume that concerns that have been raised about NAFTA would necessarily have direct relevance to SAFTA.

Final provisions

2.108 Chapter 17 contains provisions concerning the overall operation and institutional aspect of the Agreement. The Committee was advised that the language 'is identical to equivalent "federal clauses" in the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) and GATS.'⁸³ This Chapter contains provisions for termination of the Agreement as well as accession by third parties in terms to be agreed by the Parties.⁸⁴ It describes the review process for the treaty and the mechanism for entering into force. The Agreement will enter into force when diplomatic notes, confirming that each Party has completed their respective procedures, are exchanged.⁸⁵

Review of provisions

2.109 Chapter 17 of SAFTA provides for a review of its terms one year after its entry into force and biennially thereafter. A number of understandings between the Parties about the operation of SAFTA and topics to be taken up at the first review are recorded in the text of the Third Person Notes (TPNs) that are to be exchanged at the time of entry into force. Other issues identified for review are included in the treaty itself.⁸⁶ Information on items identified was provided by DFAT as Submission 3, and is reproduced below.

⁸³ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 10.

⁸⁴ From *Annex 2: Obligations*, tabled with the NIA and Treaty text, p. 10.

⁸⁵ NIA, para. 2.

⁸⁶ DFAT, Submission 3, p. 2.

Issues identified within SAFTA

i. As per Article 6 of Chapter 7 (Trade in Services), the Market Access and National Treatment obligations of this chapter will not apply to measures maintained by the Parties at the regional level until the first review. Article 6 of Chapter 8 (Investment) provides for a similar transition period for regional governments with respect to the National Treatment obligation of this chapter. (Regional governments in this context include State and Territory Governments in Australia.)

Accordingly, at the first review, Australia will incorporate into the annexes to these two chapters (Annex 4-I(A) and Annex 4-II(A)) additional reservations for non-conforming measures applied at the State and Territory levels. This process of incorporation is subject to consultations between the Parties which may involve adjustments to the existing annexes of reservations to preserve the "overall balance of benefits" under the Agreement.

- ii. As per Article 22 of Chapter 7 (Trade in Services), the Parties will review ongoing work towards an Open Skies Agreement at the first review of SAFTA [see Paragraph 2.146 of this Chapter].
- iii. As per Article 18 of Chapter 6 (Government Procurement), at the first review and at subsequent reviews of SAFTA, the Parties will update, where appropriate, the lists of entities covered by the chapter (as set out in Annex 3 A (for Australia) and Annex 3B (for Singapore)). They will also consider extending the scope of this chapter by adding entities to the Annexes (including, in the case of Australia, by encouraging States and Territories to list their entities at the first review).

Issues to be recorded in the exchange of Third Person Notes

- i. The Parties shall consider the inclusion in Chapter 8 (Investment), of a provision relating to performance requirements. Negotiation of such a provision will use as a guide the illustrative list in the WTO Agreement on Trade-Related Investment Measures or similar provisions in other international agreements.
- ii. The Parties shall consider the inclusion in Chapter 8 (Investment), of a provision relating to 'taxation measures as expropriation". The negotiating text on this provision at the conclusion of SAFTA negotiations will be used as the basis for future discussion.
- iii. The Parties will consider the incorporation of commitments on nondiscriminatory treatment of "digital products" and consider the application of such commitments to the procurement practices of entities covered by Chapter 6 (Government Procurement).
- iv. At the initiation of either Party, the Parties will review the scope and operation of Article 9.8 (Resolution of Interconnection Disputes) of Chapter 10 (Telecommunications Services) within six months of the passage of any laws relating to the interconnection dispute resolution process in Australia.
- v. Singapore will consider Australia's request to add a further two Australian universities to the eight recognised law degrees (provided for under SAFTA) for admission as qualified lawyers in Singapore (Annex 4-IH, Part **I.B**). Singapore will also review the stipulation in Annex 4-III that only those graduates from these universities ranked in the highest 30 per cent will be regarded as qualified persons.
- vi. The Parties will review the use of measures covered by Article 16 (Industry Development) of Chapter 6 (Government Procurement), in the **light** of the objectives of the Chapter, and consult on ways of addressing any concerns raised by either Party.

- 2.110 The Committee was advised that any changes to SAFTA as a result of future reviews would be submitted for review by Joint Standing Committee on Treaties (JSCOT), under current treaty-making arrangements.
- 2.111 The Committee understands that issues concerning the review have particular implications for State and Territory governments. These will be discussed separately, later in the Chapter.

Reservations

2.112 In response to concerns raised in submissions, DFAT clarified that the reservations contained in Annexes 4-I(A) and 4-II(A) of the Agreement apply to Australia as a Party to SAFTA and cover all levels of government unless otherwise qualified:

there will not be separate reservations for the Commonwealth Government, on the one hand, and the States and Territories, on the other.⁸⁷

For example, the Annex 4-II(A) reservations state that "Australia reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure with respect to" the sectors, sub-sectors or activities specified in those reservations. These Annex 4-II(A) reservations, which provide flexibility both to maintain existing non-conforming measures and to introduce new ones, would cover measures relating to the specified sectors, sub-sectors or activities, whether taken by the Commonwealth Government, State and Territory Governments, or local governments. In the case of the Annex 4-I(A) reservations, which involve a binding on the level of discrimination or restrictiveness of existing measures, the existing measures need to be described. This would normally involve identifying the jurisdiction applying the measure, whether at the Commonwealth level or particular States and Territories.

The services and investment chapters of SAFTA include a transitional provision under which certain key obligations of

32

these chapters will not apply to measures maintained by State and Territory Governments until modifications or additions are made to the lists of reservations contained in Annex 4 at the time of the first review of the Agreement. In some cases the first review of the Agreement will involve the incorporation of new reservations in Australia's list of reservations in Annex 4, while in other cases existing reservations may need to be redrafted to ensure they adequately cover all levels of government.

In some cases, there may be some overlap between Annex 4-I(A) and Annex 4-II(A) reservations. In these cases, Australia would need to ensure compliance with both reservations, i.e. the broader carve-out of the Annex 4-II(A) reservation, allowing the introduction of more restrictive measures, could not be applied in a manner which undermined the Annex 4-I(A) reservation binding the level of restrictiveness of the existing measures covered by the latter.⁸⁸

Cultural reservations

- 2.113 The Committee was pleased to receive submissions from the Australian Film Commission (AFC), the Media, Arts and Entertainment Alliance (MEAA), and the Australian Coalition for Cultural Diversity (ACCD). The Committee notes the general concerns about FTAs that were raised, and that they are similar to those raised in other submissions to the inquiry. However, the Committee notes with interest that, in relation to the specific issue of cultural reservations under the SAFTA, all submissions from these bodies were strongly in favour.
- 2.114 The AFC in its submission points out that 'while free trade is an essential objective so too is the ability of nations to enact cultural policy.'⁸⁹ The submission states that:

SAFTA provides a model for the treatment of culture in trade agreements and represents, in our view, a new international standard ... this represents one of the most comprehensive cultural reservations in any trade agreement so far negotiated

⁸⁸ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 6.

⁸⁹ Australian Film Commission (AFC), Submission 16, p. 2.

and should be a model for the negotiation of the USA-Australia trade agreement.⁹⁰

2.115 The MEAA notes in its submission that the government's ability to regulate foreign ownership of the media has also been protected in SAFTA.⁹¹ It also comments that:

The decision to exclude content from the commitments made in respect of e-commerce is far-sighted and supported by the Alliance.⁹²

2.116 The ACCD in its submission notes that:

SAFTA contains the basic elements needed to protect Australia's cultural industries – the reservation is comprehensive, it is technology neutral, it operates regardless of the delivery platform utilised and contains no standstill provisions.⁹³

2.117 The Committee notes that the MEAA and the ACCD also commented on the 'extensive consultation' that was undertaken by DFAT with the cultural industries, and 'commends the Government on negotiating an agreement that embeds its social and cultural objectives in the context of trade.^{'94} The ACCD states that its members are:

> gratified that the concerns of industry have been acknowledged and accommodated in the drafting of the Agreement.⁹⁵

Treaty costs and benefits

2.118 An Access Economics study commissioned by DFAT on the costs and benefits of an FTA with Singapore was unable to give precise overall quantitative estimates of the likely impact of such an FTA at the macroeconomic level.⁹⁶ The most important impact of SAFTA for the Australian economy will result from liberalisation of those areas where Australian firms still face restrictions, namely the service

⁹⁰ AFC, Submission 16, pp. 2-3.

⁹¹ Media Entertainment and Arts Alliance (MEAA), Submission 17, p. 2.

⁹² MEAA, Submission 17, p. 2.

⁹³ Australian Coalition for Cultural Diversity (ACCD), Submission 22, p. 2.

⁹⁴ MEAA, Submission 17, p. 3.

⁹⁵ ACCD, Submission 22, p. 2.

⁹⁶ RIS, p. 6.

sector; however, due to the paucity of reliable trade data for services, econometric estimates of the likely growth in Australian service exports resulting from the SAFTA would be unreliable.⁹⁷

2.119 The Committee understands that gains from the SAFTA are not likely to have a heavy impact on macroeconomic aggregates such as GDP, employment or net exports because Singapore, though wealthy, is a relatively small economy (with a population of just over 4 million) and its bilateral trade relationship with Australia is already welldeveloped.⁹⁸

Goods

- 2.120 Treasury has estimated that the financial cost of SAFTA to the Commonwealth Government will amount to \$130 million over 4 years (\$30 million a year in 2003-04 and 2004-05, growing to \$35 million a year in 2005-06 and 2006-07). This estimate is based on the expected loss of tariff revenue from imports from Singapore, which are assumed to grow steadily over time in line with the domestic economy.
- 2.121 The estimates do not take account of the scope for additional lost tariff revenue that could arise if imports from Singapore displaced imports from other countries. The estimates do not include figures on the potential economic growth that SAFTA may generate and any additional taxation revenue occurring from that growth.⁹⁹
- 2.122 Treasury cautioned that its costing does not take into account possible changes in market behaviour. For instance, there may be a greater loss to Commonwealth revenue than estimated if there an increase in cheaper imports from Singapore displaces imports from other countries that are subject to a tariff. This loss could be balanced however, by a potential decrease in the loss because increased economic growth (from cheaper Singaporean imports) may result in additional taxation revenue to the Government.¹⁰⁰
- 2.123 The Committee notes that the costs of the processes of verification of rules of origin are not available. The RIS states that the Australian

⁹⁷ RIS, p. 6.

⁹⁸ RIS, pp. 6-7.

⁹⁹ NIA, para. 16.

¹⁰⁰ NIA, para. 16.

Customs Service is unable to 'predict what resources will be needed to verify origin'.¹⁰¹

- 2.124 Following the implementation of SAFTA, Australian beer and stout producers will have duty free access to Singapore, but all other Australian products already have such access.¹⁰²
- 2.125 The RIS states that as 86 per cent of Australia's imports from Singapore already enter Australia duty free and most of the remainder enter at relatively low rates, the adjustment effects on Australian industry from removing the remaining tariffs are likely to be small.
- 2.126 The RIS states that costs of trading goods should be reduced by promotion of paperless trading and improvement in visa arrangements for both short and long-term business visitors and residents.
- 2.127 The Committee also understands that the provisions on mandatory technical regulations have the potential to reduce costs of complying with each other's regime in the sectors that will be covered in Annexes. Annexes are under negotiations on food products and horticultural goods.¹⁰³
- 2.128 The RIS states that these cost reductions will:

allow Australian exporters to become more competitive in the Singaporean market. Similarly, they may make imports from Singapore cheaper, creating increased competition for Australian producers of like goods, while allowing for more efficient production for Australian manufacturing firms using such goods as inputs.¹⁰⁴

Services

2.129 The RIS states that the most significant gains from SAFTA for Australian service providers:

103 RIS, p. 9.

¹⁰¹ RIS, p. 14.

¹⁰² RIS, p. 7.

¹⁰⁴ RIS, p. 9.

are in the financial and legal service sectors, along with positive outcomes for education, environmental services and professional services (such as architects and engineers).¹⁰⁵

2.130 The RIS states further that:

SAFTA binds Singapore's current – and, in many cases, recently-liberalised – regulatory regime in a number of important service sectors. Thus, Singapore will not be able to introduce more restrictive measures in these areas, at least with respect to Australian service suppliers.¹⁰⁶

105 RIS, p. 10. 106 RIS, p. 10.

Table	Gains for Australia's Service Providers
	 Restrictions on the number of wholesale banking licenses to be eased over time
	 More certain, and enhanced operating environment for financial service suppliers
	 Conditions eased on establishment of joint ventures involving Australian law firms
	 Number of Australian law degrees recognised in Singapore doubled from 4 to 8
	 Improved commitments on residency requirements for Australian professionals
	 Mutual recognition Agreements between architects and engineers under way
	 National treatment and market access commitments for Australian education providers
	 Singapore Government overseas scholarships tenable at Australian universities
	 The environmental services sector will be largely open to Australian businesses
	 Open market access and national treatment for a range of other service sectors
	 Spouses of business people can work as managers, specialists, office administrators
Source	Regulation Impact Statement, p. 11.

2.131 The Committee was advised that Access Economics adopted a survey approach to obtain estimates of the impact an FTA would have on particular service sectors, which, while incomplete (e.g. telecommunications firms were unwilling to give any estimates for reasons of commercial confidentiality), suggest that the gains from SAFTA are likely to be substantial for some service sectors and firms.¹⁰⁷ The report found benefits:

107 Access Economics, *The Costs and Benefits of a Free Trade Agreement with Singapore*, Canberra, 2001. Available at: http://www.dfat.gov.au/trade/negotiations/aussing_fta_cost_benefit_study.html

39

in the order of \$8 million to \$20 million for financial services – perhaps as much as \$50 or \$60 million. In education, the figure was an increase in exports of around \$50 million.¹⁰⁸

- 2.132 DFAT stated that SAFTA would provide a wide range of opportunities to small and medium sized providers of services. SAFTA would reduce the costs of establishing businesses in Singapore. In some cases a local presence in Singapore would not be required, enabling service providers to operate out of Australia.¹⁰⁹
- 2.133 The Committee notes that SAFTA does include binding commitments beyond existing WTO obligations and that the Commonwealth Government's flexibility in adopting new regulations will be limited in some areas in the future. For example:

SAFTA preserves our screening process for foreign investment (through the Foreign Investment Review Board), but binds the current thresholds for triggering prior approval of investment proposals. This is similar to commitments Australia has already made in the OECD. SAFTA also binds the current limits on foreign ownership of Telstra, Qantas and other Australian international airlines. Hence, after entry into force of SAFTA, the Commonwealth Government will not be able to revise upward these thresholds and limits without adequately compensating Singapore as per the terms of SAFTA. Such compensation would normally be made by undertaking, with Singapore's consent, a new additional commitment under SAFTA, possibly in an entirely different sector.¹¹⁰

2.134 DFAT acknowledged that:

we now need to talk to Australian industry in a different way, to explain the Agreement, to encourage Australian industry to look at SAFTA and see what opportunities it does generate for them as we go forward, and we will be doing that with Austrade and others.¹¹¹

2.135 The Agreement also has indirect benefits in the areas of mutual recognition agreements.

¹⁰⁸ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 8.

¹⁰⁹ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 8.

¹¹⁰ RIS, p. 15.

¹¹¹ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 20.

Mutual recognition agreements

- 2.136 DFAT drew the attention of the Committee to indirect benefits to Australia that followed from negotiating SAFTA. One of these was the progress of mutual recognition agreements. The Committee was advised that the provision reflects the fact that recognition of qualifications and registration procedures can act as barriers to professionals practicing in the other Party.¹¹²
- 2.137 The National Association of Testing Authorities will be a designated authority under SAFTA, and notes one of the benefits of the Market Research Analysis (MRA) referring to the electrical products manufacturing industry:

The MRA will ensure that testing of electrical products conducted in NATA accredited and designated laboratories is accepted by the Singapore authorities. Up until now these authorities have not been prepared to accept the test reports on the basis of their NATA accreditation.

In addition to providing easier access to the Singapore market for Australian goods in the sectors included in the MRA, the treaty will provide a valuable precedent for future conformity assessment related Agreements Australia wishes to pursue.¹¹³

- 2.138 The Committee was advised that recognition of professional qualifications is covered in the SAFTA through Article 23 of Chapter 7. This Article obliges Parties to 'encourage their relevant competent bodies to enter into negotiations on recognition of professional qualifications and/or registration procedures with a view to the achievement of early outcomes.'
- 2.139 DFAT informed the Committee that, in response to the interest of the architecture and engineering professions in negotiating MRAs with their Singapore counterparts, the Government used the negotiations for SAFTA to gain the cooperation of Singapore in initiating meetings between the relevant professional bodies.¹¹⁴ The Committee was advised by DFAT that, to date, more progress has been achieved in developing an MRA on architecture than in relation to engineering:

We understand the architects are very close to finalising [an] Agreement. The engineers are still making some progress ...

114 DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 10.

¹¹² Milton Church, Transcript of Evidence, pp. 14, 15 and 19.

¹¹³ National Association of Testing Authorities (NATA), Submission 2, p. 1.

there are certainly opportunities under the Agreement in the whole range of professional services ... to look at developing these mutual recognition Agreements.¹¹⁵

2.140 Submission 13 from the Institution of Engineers, Australia, while recognising positive outcomes including eased residency and visa requirements in SAFTA for Australian professionals, raises concerns about the negotiation of an MRA with counterpart bodies in Singapore. The submission suggests that government support is needed to advance the process and expresses regret that this was not achieved by the proposed Agreement:

> Without strong backing from the Australian government it seems unlikely that the status quo will change. SAFTA managed to deal with some of the recognition problems facing legal professionals. However, it is unfortunate that the same was not attempted for engineers.¹¹⁶

2.141 The submission suggests that the Asia Pacific Economic Corporation (APEC) Engineer Register should be used as a best practice MRA and that the issue should be revisited during the first review of the Treaty.

The restrictions placed by the PEB on the recognition of Australian engineering qualifications have eroded the perceived benefits that SAFTA would bring via the export of educational services. The Institution would suggest that the Australian government has underestimated the potential of non-tariff barriers, like the non-recognition of qualifications by the PEB, to undermine the perceived benefits of SAFTA in the educational services area.¹¹⁷

2.142 At the public hearing on 16 June, Mr Stephen Deady gave the Committee an update on progress made in this area:

We used the opportunity of the FTA, on a number of occasions, in talking to our Singaporean colleagues to encourage them to speak to their professional body in Singapore to encourage this process. We understand that there has been some further good progress made in this area, but I do not believe there has yet been a sign off on the mutual recognition arrangements.¹¹⁸

- 116 The Institute of Engineers, *Submission 13*, p. 2.
- 117 The Institute of Engineers Submission 13, p. 5.
- 118 Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, 16 June 2003, p. 40.

¹¹⁵ Milton Churche, Transcript of Evidence, p. 15.

2.143 The Committee was advised that:

the Government is continuing to provide support to the efforts to negotiate an MRA on engineering and SAFTA, including its first review, will provide an important vehicle to move these efforts forward.¹¹⁹

- 2.144 While the general question of qualifications is recognised in the treaty and has been addressed above, the Committee believes that the issue of mutual recognition of qualifications and standards must be given greater focus.
- 2.145 In the Committee's view, the 'standards' issue will become increasingly important to the economy of the future. Greater emphasis should be placed on harmonisation of standards such as those relating to professional qualifications, accounting standards, electronic interchange, the Internet, port regulations, the rules on privacy and telecommunications standards to facilitate flow of information between treaty partners.

Air services

- 2.146 The Committee was advised that the Agreement has benefits in air services, in that in Article 22 of Chapter 7 (Trade in Services), both Parties agree to work towards a separate Open Skies Air Services Agreement.¹²⁰
- 2.147 According to the RIS, rights in relation to air transport and services directly related to the exercise of those rights were a major issue not covered in the negotiations. Separate negotiations for an 'open skies' agreement between Australia and Singapore were already underway before SAFTA negotiations commenced, and these negotiations were kept separate from SAFTA, in order not to complicate the SAFTA talks.¹²¹
- 2.148 A further indirect benefit arising from treaty negotiations claimed by DFAT was the achievement of air side access at Changi airport. Mr Stephen Deady stated:

¹¹⁹ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 28.

¹²⁰ NIA, para. 24.

¹²¹ RIS, p. 5.

I am not saying that that came about as a result of the FTA, but the fact that we have a dialogue going with Singapore in this important area helped in that process.¹²²

Impact of SAFTA on States and Territories

- 2.149 The Committee was advised that the Chapter on Trade in Services will be the most significant for State and Territory governments, and the Chapter on Investment is also directly relevant to them. As stated at paragraph 2.22, State and Territory governments have until the first review of SAFTA, one year after its entry into force, to incorporate measures into its lists of reservations. DFAT advised that, at this time, reservations covering the States and Territories may be incorporated in recognition of the time required for consultation with, and within, the States and Territories to enable them to review all areas of relevant legislation and regulation before reservations affecting them are negotiated.¹²³
- 2.150 Article 3 and 4 of Chapter 7 (Trade in Services) will apply after the first 12 months to measures affecting trade in services maintained at the State and Territory levels. At this time, article 3 of Chapter 8 (Investment) will apply to measures affecting investment maintained at the State and Territory levels.¹²⁴
- 2.151 Several submissions received by the Committee expressed concern at the impact of the proposed SAFTA on State and Territory governments to regulate services. The Committee received, as attachments to a submission from Stephen Deady, correspondence between Mr Terry Moran, Head of the Premier's Department in Victoria and Mr Ashton Calvert, Secretary of the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade. An extract from Mr Moran's letter of 10 February 2003 states:

NAFTA has been used to undermine US local and state sovereignty and control, and to give foreign investors better treatment than local businesses. While it is not a foregone conclusion that the ASFTA will create identical scenarios to those that have arisen under the NAFTA, the broad

¹²² Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 20.

¹²³ NIA, para. 17.

¹²⁴ Under Article 6 of Chapter 8. See NIA, para. 23.

implications of the investor-Party dispute settlement provisions for Australian States and Territories need to be given detailed consideration, and should not be underestimated.

Safeguards need to be put in place to ensure that Australian States and Territories' abilities to regulate are suitably protected from inappropriate challenges from foreign investors under the ASFTA. Further, it should also be ensured that States and Territories are specifically given standing to participate in the resolution of any dispute involving their constitutional responsibilities.¹²⁵

Mr Moran indicated that his letter was to be copied to the heads of Central Agencies in the other States and Territories.

2.152 Mr Ashton Calvert, in his response of 7 March 2003, provided the following information to Mr Moran:

In relation to the Investor-State dispute settlement provisions included in SAFTA, I would note that these contain a number of important safeguards against their abuse. They can only be invoked against Australia in cases where a Singapore investor alleges that we have breached an obligation under the Investment Chapter of the Agreement which caused loss or damage to the investor or its investment. Initially, the parties to the dispute would have to seek to resolve it by consultation and negotiation. If this does not resolve the dispute within six months, either party to the dispute may refer it to one of three fora: the courts or administrative tribunals of the disputing Party; the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID) for conciliation or arbitration; or arbitration under the rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL).

If the dispute has already been submitted to Australia's courts or administrative tribunals, then this provision could not be invoked. Furthermore, if an investor chose to submit the dispute to either ICSID or UNCITRAL, it would have to provide written notice waiving its right to initiate or continue any proceedings before either of the other two dispute settlement fora (including Australia's domestic courts or administrative tribunals). In addition, the submission of the dispute to ICSID or UNCITRAL must take place within three years of the time at which the investor became aware, or should reasonably have become aware, of a breach of an obligation under the Investment Chapter causing loss or damage to the investor or its investment.

In the event that these dispute settlement provisions were to be invoked in relation to the actions of a State or Territory Government, then that Government would be fully involved in Australia's handling of the dispute.¹²⁶

In this response Mr Calvert stated that his letter would be copied to all States and Territories.

- 2.153 The Committee understands that no further correspondence was received by DFAT from the Premier's Office in Victoria and therefore assumes that no further questions were raised with DFAT on the matter, although a submission was received from the Victorian Government, enclosing a summary of concerns. However, the covering letter from the Hon Steve Bracks MP stated that Victoria has no objections to the proposed treaty being brought into force through ratification.¹²⁷ Neither the South Australian Government nor the Tasmanian Government expressed any concerns with the proposed Agreement in their submissions to the Committee.¹²⁸
- 2.154 The Committee was advised that, in the event that these dispute settlement provisions were to be invoked in relation to the actions of a State or Territory Government, then that Government would be fully involved in Australia's handling of the dispute, and that

The investor-state dispute settlement provisions of SAFTA can only be invoked in relation to the obligations of the investment chapter of the Agreement. They cannot be invoked in relation to the obligations of other chapters, such as the services chapter.¹²⁹

¹²⁶ Stephen Deady, Submission 29.

¹²⁷ Victorian Government, Submission 26.

¹²⁸ South Australian Government, Submission 30; Tasmanian Government, Submission 24.

¹²⁹ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 5.

Impact on Local Governments

- 2.155 Several submissions received by the Committee raised concerns about the impact on local government, and the lack of consultation with local government.
- 2.156 The Committee understands that the provisions of SAFTA apply to all levels of government in Australia, including local government, although DFAT advised that most provisions would have little direct impact on the activities of local government, which is 'similar to the situation with other comparable treaties such as the World Trade Organization (WTO) Agreements'.¹³⁰ The Committee was also advised that:

the provisions of SAFTA that have most relevance to local government, i.e. the services and investment chapters, provide for a carve-out of all existing measures applied by this level of government that may be inconsistent with the national treatment and market access obligations of these chapters. This means that SAFTA will not require any changes to measures applied at the local government level.¹³¹

2.157 DFAT also advised that local government, together with other levels of government, will benefit from general exceptions provisions of the services and investment chapters:

> which allow the adoption of measures otherwise inconsistent with these chapters to achieve important public policy objectives, subject to compliance with certain safeguards against the abuse of these provisions. Local government measures will also be covered by the Annex 4-(II)(A) reservations, which will provide Australian governments with the flexibility to both maintain existing non-conforming measures, and introduce new ones, for the sectors, subsectors and activities specified.¹³²

Consultation with States and Territories

2.158 In addition to the correspondence referred to in paragraphs
 2.151 – 2.153 and formal consultation mechanisms, the Committee was advised that:

¹³⁰ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 2.

¹³¹ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 2.

¹³² DFAT, Submission 3.1, pp. 2-3.

DFAT has conducted SAFTA-specific consultations with the States and Territories involving both the Departments of Premier and Cabinet and those agencies responsible for trade issues ... [and] will continue this consultation process in the lead-up to the first review of SAFTA as well as to deal with continuing implementation issues related to the Agreement.¹³³

2.159 The Committee was advised that State and Territory governments were consulted throughout the SAFTA negotiations through meetings in capital cities, joint meetings in Canberra and through other forums such as the National Trade Consultations (NTC), a two-tiered high level consultative process between the Commonwealth, State and Territory Governments on trade and investment issues generally.¹³⁴ DFAT advised that this consultation was given priority:

> given the potential implications of commitments under the services, investment and government procurement chapters of the Agreement for their regulatory regimes, as well as their interest in supporting local industry and exporters in identifying opportunities that could be pursued in the negotiations.¹³⁵

- 2.160 The Committee understands that the Government intends to continue to consult very closely with the States and Territories in the process of developing and negotiating lists of reservations to the commitments in relation to the services and investment chapters.¹³⁶ The Committee is pleased to note DFAT's recognition of the important roles that State and Territory governments play in providing an additional avenue to convey any community concerns, as well as carrying responsibility for local government.¹³⁷
- 2.161 The Committee was advised that, in recognition of the involvement of State and Territory governments in the implementation of SAFTA, and the concerns of those governments that adequate consultation take place, meetings across several tiers have occurred and are planned for the future. DFAT advised that:

In addition to meetings at officials' level ... the Minister for Trade chairs a Ministerial meeting twice a year in different

¹³³ DFAT, Submission 3.1, pp. 5-6.

¹³⁴ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 5.

¹³⁵ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 1.

¹³⁶ NIA, para. 18.

¹³⁷ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 1.

cities with State and Territory Ministers who have responsibility for trade issues. Additional issue-specific meetings and ad hoc teleconferences may be held as necessary.¹³⁸

2.162 The Queensland Government stated in its submission that:

A mechanism for ongoing consultation with State Governments during the life of the Agreement needs to be formalised. Such a mechanism could address - issues arising from the biennial reviews; measures to achieve an overall balance of restrictions under the Agreement where amendments are required to a non-conforming State or Territory measure; and any concerns in relation to the operation of the investor-Party dispute settlement mechanism. The Treaties Council, comprising Commonwealth, State and Territory Heads of Government, provides an appropriate forum.¹³⁹

- 2.163 The Committee recognises the role of the Standing Committee on Treaties (SCOT), which consists of senior Commonwealth and State and Territory officers. SCOT meets at least twice a year, and identifies and discusses treaties and other international instruments of sensitivity and importance to the States and Territories, thereby monitoring and reporting on implications for those governments.¹⁴⁰ The Committee was advised that SAFTA was discussed at meetings of the SCOT on 28 May and 13 November 2002, and 28 May 2003. The Committee accepts the view of DFAT that 'any amendments to SAFTA arising, for example, from the biennial review process could also be considered by SCOT.'¹⁴¹
- 2.164 DFAT advised that the Commonwealth government, at the SCOT meeting of 28 May 2003, undertook to examine options that would make the consultative process more effective.

Central among these could be a change to the process of agenda-setting for SCOT – for example, by providing the States and Territories a 'key issues brief' on possible agenda items three months ahead of SCOT meetings. This would allow the State and Territory central agencies to liaise with

¹³⁸ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 25.

¹³⁹ Queensland Government, Submission 25, p. 4.

¹⁴⁰ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 5.

¹⁴¹ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 5.

their respective line areas to identify priorities and provide feed back to the Commonwealth on the key issues brief.¹⁴²

2.165 The Committee considers that the ongoing consultation process outlined by DFAT in written submissions and at the public hearing on 24 March ought effectively alleviate the concerns of State and Territory governments that their involvement be sought and any issues that might arise with SAFTA would be able to be addressed.

Consultation with local government

- 2.166 Further to paragraph 2.155 above, the Committee was advised that the Commonwealth Government did not specifically consult with local government during the negotiation of SAFTA. DFAT advised that such consultation will be undertaken with local government in the lead-up to the first review of SAFTA, in order to explain the provisions and the impact of the extension of the Agreement's coverage to State and Territory measures considered by SCOT.
- 2.167 The Committee notes the increasing significance of local government as an important mechanism for service delivery in local communities and is concerned at the failure of the consultation process to address their potential concerns in this context.

Consultation

2.168 The Committee was advised that the process of consultations undertaken by the Government in relation to SAFTA was guided primarily by the need to keep potentially interested stakeholders as fully informed as possible throughout the course of negotiations:

> In particular, consultations focused on peak bodies, sectoral industry associations or individual companies whose members might have an interest in the Singapore market or whose interests might be affected by any changes under consideration in the negotiations.¹⁴³

2.169 Despite concerns raised in some submissions about the lack or inadequacy of consultations during the negotiation phase of SAFTA, the Committee understands that, in addition to industry and

¹⁴² DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 5.

¹⁴³ DFAT, *Submission 3.1*, p. 1. A comprehensive summary of the consultations on SAFTA can be found at Annex 1 to the NIA, tabled with the Treaty on 4 March 2003.

government stakeholders, DFAT held meetings with nongovernmental and union groups interested in the negotiations, including at consultations with the Australian Fair Trade and Investment network in February 2002.

- 2.170 DFAT advised the Committee that SAFTA was also discussed at meetings of trade consultative groups convened by the Minister for Trade, such as the WTO Advisory Group and the Trade Policy Advisory Group, which include representatives of prominent nongovernment organisations and academic experts.
- 2.171 The Committee was advised that the Government is pursuing a similar approach to consultations on other trade negotiations. The Department advised that:

the ambit of consultations with non-government and community groups in relation to trade negotiations is influenced by the interest expressed by particular groups in relevant issues, as well as the extent to which issues of interest to them emerge in public debate. In principle, the Department is available at any time to discuss individual negotiations and related issues with interested groups. The much higher degree of public interest in issues surrounding the AUSFTA negotiations, and the more far-reaching implications of the issues emerging in public debate, has meant that the Department has held a much wider range of organised consultations on the AUSFTA than was the case with SAFTA.¹⁴⁴

- 2.172 As discussed at paragraph 2.109, several chapters of SAFTA contain provision for consultation and review of specific provisions. The Third Party Notes that will be exchanged at the time of entry into force also include Agreement on the review of certain of the provisions of SAFTA.
- 2.173 Ms Rosie Wagstaff acknowledged that the Commonwealth may have consulted with industry bodies in the course of negotiating the terms of SAFTA:

Groups other than business and industry bodies are affected by this Agreement, and should have input into the process of their negotiation and review, especially since many government services and policies will be affected by the review.¹⁴⁵

2.174 While the Committee was pleased to learn that DFAT intends to hold ongoing consultations with stakeholders and interested organisations in the lead up to the review of the SAFTA, it considers that the opportunity for members of the public to express concerns and views about the efficacy of the Agreement would be in the longer-term interest where strong community concerns exist about trade agreements.

Recommendation 1

That, in recognition of the concerns held by members of the Australian public and non-government organisations, there be an opportunity for greater public involvement, specifically including local government, in the consultation process leading up to the first review of SAFTA.

Other Issues

Impact on Australian sovereignty

- 2.175 A number of submissions received by the Committee expressed concerns about the potential of SAFTA, and FTAs in general, to limit the future actions of Australian governments. Of particular concern was the negative list approach adopted in SAFTA that subjects all sectors not reserved to the terms of the treaty.
- 2.176 The Committee does not agree that FTAs impose limitations on sovereignty they are, in fact, instances of the exercise of sovereignty. Under Articles 6 and 7 of Chapter 17 future Australian governments may amend or terminate the Agreement.
- 2.177 The provision of biennial reviews enables the Australian government to add additional sectors to the reserved lists provided at Annexes 4-I(A) and 4-II(A).

¹⁴⁵ Rosie Wagstaff, Submission 4, p. 1.

Labour rights and environmental standards

- 2.178 Some submissions, including from the ACTU, the Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union (AMWU) and the Victorian Greens, raised concerns about the lack of provisions on labour rights or environmental standards.
- 2.179 The Committee was advised that Australia and Singapore did not include chapters on labour and the environment 'as neither country considered that provisions of that kind would be appropriate or necessary for this Agreement.'¹⁴⁶ The Committee recognises that future FTAs may have different requirements.

Conclusions

- 2.180 The Committee considers that the main advantages for Australia under SAFTA appear to be increased transparency and predictability for service providers; and decreased input costs for industry using components from Singapore as a result of the reduction of tariffs.
- 2.181 The Committee supports instruments that advance international trade liberalisation, in principle, but believes that each should be judged on its own merits. Caution should be exercised at the possibility of Parties circumventing free trade principles through hidden subsidies. In this case, trade in goods between Australia and Singapore is substantially unencumbered and the controversial issues that may exist in future FTAs negotiated by Australia do not loom so large in this Agreement.
- 2.182 Although the loss to Commonwealth revenue appears to amount to a considerable sum, DFAT contended that when Singapore's position as Australia's seventh largest trading partner for 2001-02 is taken into account 'the annual tariff loss is actually low.'¹⁴⁷
- 2.183 The removal of tariffs on Singapore imports to Australia should improve the competitive position of Australian manufacturing industry by allowing access to duty free industrial inputs.¹⁴⁸ An improved competitive position for industry:

¹⁴⁶ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 14.

¹⁴⁷ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 12.

¹⁴⁸ RIS, p. 8.

would lead to higher levels of activity, higher economic growth [and] higher employment.¹⁴⁹

2.184 SAFTA should also benefit Australian exporters of goods to Singapore through:

the provisions on mandatory technical regulations [that] establish a framework for determining equivalence of Australian and Singapore standards and have the potential to reduce the costs of complying with each other's regime ... This will build on the existing *Mutual Recognition Agreement* on Conformity Assessment between the Government of Australia and the Government of Singapore, [done in 2001].¹⁵⁰

Introduction of legislation before the Committee has considered the proposed treaty action

- 2.185 For Australia to fulfil its obligations under SAFTA, the Customs Tariff Act 1995 and the Customs Act 1901 will need to be amended to incorporate the preferential tariff rates that will apply to goods imported from Singapore under SAFTA.¹⁵¹
- 2.186 The Committee notes that where enabling legislation is required for compliance with a proposed treaty action, it is normally stated in the National Interest Analysis. While legislation to implement the provisions of the SAFTA is noted in the NIA, there was no indication of when it would be introduced. Many submissions noted that no legislation relating to SAFTA should have been introduced or passed by the Parliament until after the review was completed. The legislation was introduced into the House of Representatives on 15 May 2003.
- 2.187 When specifically questioned about this, DFAT has stated that the relevant legislation was introduced into Parliament in order to be in a position to bring SAFTA into force at an early date, after the Government has had an opportunity to consider the Committee's report:

The provisions of the two Bills implementing the tariff reductions under SAFTA will only commence on the day on which SAFTA enters into force. SAFTA will only enter into

150 RIS, p. 9.

¹⁴⁹ Stephen Deady, Transcript of Evidence, p. 8.

¹⁵¹ NIA, para. 14.

force when the Governments of Australia and Singapore take action to enter the treaty into force (by exchange of diplomatic notes) once they have completed their respective procedures to enable that to happen. For Australia, that includes completion of JSCOT's report on the treaty, and consideration of the report by the Government. The relevant legislative provisions will not have any effect before then.¹⁵²

2.188 The Committee understands that the Government view is that having legislation introduced at the earliest possible time will:

allow Australian business and industry to avail itself of the provisions of SAFTA at the earliest practical opportunity

and that:

there is substantial interest in the business community, and our Singapore partners are also keen to move ahead.¹⁵³

2.189 The Committee is concerned that the practice of introducing enabling legislation prior to the completion of the Committee's review could undermine the workings of the Committee. DFAT's statement that:

it is not unusual for relevant legislation to be introduced to the Parliament before JSCOT has completed its review of a proposed treaty action.¹⁵⁴

gives the Committee cause for concern should a precedent be set. The Committee also notes statements made in a meeting of Senate Estimates for the Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Portfolio on 3 June 2003 (extract produced as follows):

Senator Cook: So they have been enacted on the presumption that the parliament will do the will of the executive and make the legislative changes?

Mr Varghese: That is normal treaty practice in Australia, as I am sure you would be aware.

Senator Cook: Yes, I am aware.

Mr Varghese: Before we ratify a treaty, in many cases it requires the implementing legislation.

Senator Cook: Yes, I am aware of that. But we have a treaties committee in the parliament. In the presentation you have made, no account was made of

¹⁵² DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 3.

¹⁵³ DFAT, *Submission 3.1*, p. 3.

¹⁵⁴ DFAT, Submission 3.1, p. 3.

what the treaties committee of the parliament might say about the treaty. What standing would the recommendations of the committee then have?

Mr Deady: The full treaty making processes will be gone through by the government before notification to the Singapore government to bring it into action. The legislative changes could be made, and the JSCOT process, as I understand it, could certainly be continuing after legislation was passed. That has happened in the past, as I also understand it, in relation to other treaties.

Senator Cook: Which is an elegant way of saying that the treaties committee can offer commentary but it cannot vary or change any element of the treaty.

Mr Deady: That is correct, yes.

This exchange confirms that the Committee's concern is warranted. The Committee notes the Department's admission that the introduction of legislation prior to the Committee's report has occurred on previous occasions:

for example, in 2002 with legislation to implement Australia's obligations under both the Protocol amending the Australia-US Double Taxation Agreement and the International Convention for the Suppression of the Financing of Terrorism.¹⁵⁵

- 2.190 The committee is of the view that existing legislation should not be introduced, without notice or reasons. The introduction of legislation prior to the Committee's final report is not conducive to the proper functioning of the Committee's process. This issue is further discussed at the end of Chapter 3, where again the Committee was presented with this circumstance. The Committee will write to all Ministers, drawing their attention to these concerns.
- 2.191 In conclusion, the Committee concurs with the views expressed in the Regulation Impact Statement, that:

SAFTA creates a more liberal, transparent and predictable environment for Australian service exporters and investors in the Singaporean market. All this effectively reduced the risk of doing business in, and with, Singapore, and should lead to increased service exports and investment by Australian providers in one of East Asia's most advanced economies.¹⁵⁶

Recommendation 2

The Committee supports the Singapore-Australia Free Trade Agreement, and recommends that binding treaty action be taken.
3

Amendments to the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora

Introduction

- 3.1 The Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) is a multilateral treaty to which Australia has been a party since 1976. The Convention regulates international trade in endangered species, thereby aiming to protect species of wild flora and fauna from overexploitation.¹
- 3.2 The Committee was advised that lists to the Convention, contained in three Appendices, are the means by which trade (import, export and transit) is regulated and monitored.² These lists are amended from time to time as required, to 'address the impacts of international trade on the conservation and sustainable use of the species listed'.³ The amendments being considered at this time, done at Santiago in November 2002, relate only to Appendices I and II.
- 3.3 Appendix I listing provides strict regulation of trade in species threatened with extinction, for which commercial trade is generally

¹ Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 23.

² Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 23, and National Interest Analysis, para. 7.

³ NIA, paras 28-29.

prohibited; Appendix II listing means that international trade is permitted but monitored.⁴

- 3.4 The amendments⁵ to Appendices I and II have resulted in:
 - the addition to Appendix I of a Madagascan chameleon, which is highly endangered and under significant threat from international trade;
 - the transfer from Appendix II to Appendix I of one species and six sub-species of parrots, a tortoise species, a tree species, a cactus species and an orchid species, which are all continuing to decline;
 - the transfer from Appendix I to Appendix II of two plant species, the populations of vicuna⁶ (in Argentina, Bolivia and Chile) and the Chilean population of a bird species, which are considered to have recovered from past over-exploitation and to be no longer threatened with extinction;
 - the addition to Appendix II of two shark species, all Hippocampus species of seahorses, fourteen freshwater turtle species, one frog species, one genus of chameleon, nine species of plant and two species of butterflies, which are known to be traded in significant volumes, and for which regulation and monitoring of trade is considered necessary in order to prevent further threat to the conservation status of wild populations;
 - the deletion from Appendix II of one plant and one lizard, which are considered to be no longer under threat from international trade; and
 - changes to specifications (called "interpretative annotations") relating to listed orchids, the Black Sea bottlenose dolphin and the African elephant, to define more accurately those products that are subject to trade controls, and define controls specific to the species.
- 3.5 The proposed Amendments have already entered into force on this occasion, without the usual tabling requirements having been met. This will be discussed later in this Chapter.

⁴ NIA, para. 6.

⁵ Information on the specific amendments is contained in the NIA, paras 9-14.

⁶ A vicuna is a mammal, similar to a llama.

Impact of the Amendments

3.6 The Committee understands that of the species listed in the amendments to the Appendices, the only species in which Australia has a trade interest is seahorses. The seahorse industry in Australia is authorised and permitted by Environment Australia for the purposes of export, and regulated through the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Convention Act.⁷ The Act operates in a similar way to the CITES Convention, in that 'there is a list of species which is unregulated, and any species not on that list are de facto regulated'.⁸

Seahorses

- 3.7 The National Interest Analysis acknowledges that while seahorses are 'in trade' in Australia, their listing does not impose any additional obligations on Australian business, as Australian laws regarding these species already complement CITES obligations.⁹
- 3.8 The Committee was informed that the seahorse trade is comprised of live specimens for aquaria, and both live and dead specimens for use in complementary and traditional medicines.¹⁰ The Committee was also advised that there is a substantial trade, particularly in South-East Asia, and that Australia ensured that it was supportive of conservation efforts.¹¹ Environment Australia advised that 'Australia has been concerned ... for the conservation of the range of species of seahorses' and had supported an international meeting which addressed trade in and conservation of seahorses in South-East Asia during 2003:

When the proposals were put forward, Australia did work with international governments on whether or not we would ourselves nominate. But, in fact, other parties chose to nominate.¹²

⁷ Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, Transcript of Evidence, p. 24.

⁸ Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, Transcript of Evidence, p. 24.

⁹ NIA, para. 6; Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, Transcript of Evidence, p. 24.

¹⁰ Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 24.

¹¹ Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 24.

¹² Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 24.

Other issues arising

African elephants

- 3.9 The NIA states that many of the species listed on the Appendices to CITES have interpretative annotations which specify the populations and/or parts or products derived from these taxa (scientific groupings) which are subject to the CITES' trade controls.¹³ The changes to the annotations relating to African elephants were of concern to the Committee because of any effect on the potential trade of ivory which could have been obtained in an improper manner.
- 3.10 Annotations for African elephants set out a range of steps that the parties named in the annotation (in this case Botswana, Namibia and South Africa) have to address before any trade occurs.¹⁴ The annotations also set maximum amounts of ivory which can be traded and despatched in a single shipment.¹⁵
- 3.11 Ms Delahunt advised that, in general, elephant ivory is kept in authorised warehouses and inspected regularly by two international organisations: Monitoring the Illegal Killing of Elephants (MIKE) and Elephant Trade Information System (ETIS), which monitors trade in ivory. The Committee was advised that the convention was spending a significant amount of its enforcement funds and capacity building funds to provide an opportunity for these nations to have controlled trade. The Committee was advised that there is some potential for countries, such as South Africa, to use the ivory trade to support conservation actions. For example, each year the national parks service in South Africa undertakes limited culling because of the impact on biodiversity; ivory taken from Kruger National Park is then stockpiled.¹⁶
- 3.12 Environment Australia acknowledged that while there are significant concerns for particular species during CITES meetings, it should be recognised that there are sensitive issues surrounding trade and

¹³ NIA, para. 14.

¹⁴ These measures include: trade only occurring between authorised parties; and a tight control on trade to cut off illegal poaching or stocks. See *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 25.

¹⁵ These limits were 20 000 kg for Botswana, 10 000 kg for Namibia and 30 000 kg for South Africa. Environment Australia advises that, using a conservative weight of 5kg per tusk, 1,000 elephants, sourced from natural mortality and existing conservation management plans, would yield approximately 10 000 kilograms of tusk.

¹⁶ Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, Transcript of Evidence, p. 24-5.

conservation: for developing nations which have developing national status, potential trade could be substantial and could be used to alleviate poverty within those areas.¹⁷

Consultation

3.13 An annex prepared by Environment Australia was tabled in the Parliament. The Committee is satisfied with the range and extent of consultation and that all relevant parties have been adequately involved in the process. The Committee notes that representatives from the Australian fishing industry, state governments and nongovernment organisations were involved in the delegation to the meeting in Santiago. Submissions from the Governments of Victoria and Queensland were in favour of the amendments.¹⁸

Entry into force

- 3.14 The NIA states that, generally, amendments to Appendices I and II automatically enter into force ninety days after the meeting of the Conference of the Parties at which they were adopted.¹⁹ The Committee was advised in September 2002 by the Minister for the Environment and Heritage, the Hon Dr David Kemp, that entry into force for Australia would occur on this occasion without the usual treaty tabling requirements having been met.
- 3.15 As Australia lodged no reservations to these amendments, most entered into force automatically on 13 February 2003. The two exceptions to this date were caused by the Conference of the Parties' decision to delay implementation of the listing of seahorses for 18 months (entry into force on 15 May 2004) and of mahogany for 12 months (entry into force 15 November 2003).

Delayed entry into force for seahorses and mahogany

3.16 The Committee sought clarification of the Conference of the Parties' decision to delay implementation of the listing of seahorses and mahogany and was advised that part of the rationale was to ensure that some of the export nations have sufficient time to deal with implementation issues:

¹⁷ Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 25.

¹⁸ Government of Queensland, *Submission 25*, and Government of Victoria, *Submission 26*.

¹⁹ NIA, para. 3.

Certainly some of the South American nations, particularly Brazil, wish to have more time to ensure that their certification standards are sufficient in order to have an easy transition for the industry.²⁰

- 3.17 The Committee was advised that this was the first occasion on which a significantly important commercial timber species was listed on CITES, 'so there were a number of implementation issues that countries that are particularly involved in the export and import of mahogany wish to work through'.²¹
- 3.18 Ms Bromley advised the Committee that, in the case of seahorses:

once again it was an implementation issue. A lot of countries involved in the trade are developing countries, once again there were capacity building issues and issues regarding making sure that regimes are set up and in place well before the listing came into effect.

Concluding observations

3.19 The Committee concurs with views expressed in the NIA that the amendments are consistent with Australia's commitment to international cooperation for the protection and conservation of wildlife that may be adversely affected by trade.

²⁰ Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, Transcript of Evidence, p. 26.

²¹ Ms Robyn Bromley, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 26.

4

MARPOL 73/78: Annex IV - Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Sewage from Ships (revised)

Introduction

- 4.1 The Protocol of 1978 relating to the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as amended at London, 17 February 1978, is known as the MARPOL 73/78 Convention. It is one of the main international instruments addressing maritime pollution, and is administered by the International Maritime Organization (IMO). It contains six technical annexes, dealing with oil, bulk noxious liquid substance, harmful substances in packaged forms, sewage, garbage and air pollution respectively. Australia has been a party to this Convention since 1987 and has ratified all four of the six annexes that have come into force.¹
- 4.2 The proposed treaty action involves acceding to Annex IV of MARPOL 73/78. Annex IV defines and sets standards for sewage management systems on ships and in ports: how sewage should be treated or held aboard a ship and the circumstances under which discharge into the sea may be allowed.²

¹ Veena Rampal, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 29.

² Veena Rampal, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 29.

4.3 Commonwealth legislation which implements the provisions of Annex IV was passed in 1986, but, as Annex IV had not received the required level of international acceptance, the legislation was not proclaimed.³ The process by which the Annex enters into force will be discussed later in this Chapter.

Background

4.4 There are currently no enforceable international standards relating to the discharge of sewage from commercial vessels. The average cruise liner, for example, can discharge approximately 100,000 litres of sewage a day, whereas the average bulk carrier with a crew of 25 discharges approximately 300 litres per day.⁴ The Committee was advised that in 1999-2000, 3,254 international trading ships visited Australian ports.⁵

Environmental concerns

- 4.5 The 1996 State of the Environment Report notes that the input of nutrients from effluents such as sewage is one of the most serious large-scale threats to Australia's near-shore marine environments.⁶
- 4.6 Environmental problems resulting from sewage discharge from ships include the introduction of nutrients which cause algal blooms and reduced oxygen levels, in some cases leading to the permanent loss of seagrass.⁷ Sewage discharge from ships differs from other types of sewage as it is often released directly into the sea and can contain treatment chemicals (such as chlorine and formaldehyde) not found in other sewage.⁸
- 4.7 The Committee accepts the view of the Department that it is in Australia's interest to prevent pollution from sewage discharge,

5 Veena Rampal, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 29; NIA, para. 10.

³ Veena Rampal, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 29.

⁴ Regulation Impact Statement (RIS), para. 1.1.

⁶ RIS, para. 1.6.

⁷ National Interest Analysis (NIA), para. 6.

⁸ NIA, para. 5.

especially in sensitive marine areas such as the Great Barrier Reef which supports significant tourist activity.

4.8 The Committee was advised that there are serious health risks for people who come into contact with polluted water during recreational activities or people who eat contaminated fish or shellfish.⁹ Information on adverse health impacts resulting from polluted water was provided in the Regulation Impact Statement (RIS), including results of a study which suggests that seafood is involved in 20 per cent of outbreaks of disease carried in food in Australia.¹⁰

Precautionary Principle

4.9 The RIS states that international concern about various types of pollution has led to the development of the 'Precautionary Principle', set out in the United Nations (UN) Conference on Environment and Development, Agenda 21, Principle 15, which states that:

> Governments should take action to prevent pollution whenever there are reasonable grounds for concern that such pollution may occur, and that a lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental degradation.¹¹

4.10 The Committee also accepts that Australia has obligations under the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea (1982), for:

nations to adopt generally accepted international rules and standards when implementing laws and regulations to prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment from vessels.¹²

Operation of the Annex

4.11 The Committee was advised that the Annex will apply to new ships of 400 gross tons and more on international voyages, and new ships of less than 400 gross tons but which are certified to carry more than 15 persons (also on international voyages).

⁹ NIA, para. 6.

¹⁰ RIS, para. 1.7.

¹¹ RIS, para. 1.8.

¹² RIS, para. 4.3.

4.12 The Committee understands that the regulations in Annex IV prohibit the discharge of sewage from ships at sea unless the discharge is carried out through the sewage treatment plant or a comminuting and disinfecting system, provided that the ship is more than three nautical miles from the nearest land, or that is carried out from a holding tank, provided that the ship is more than three nautical miles from the nearest land:¹³

> In effect, the regulations stipulate that sewage from ships may be discharged within the 12 nautical mile zone only if it has been treated. Sewage remaining in holding tanks aboard ships may be discharged at waste reception facilities located at various ports.¹⁴

- 4.13 The Committee was advised that the Annex places an obligation on ports to provide facilities for the reception of sewage from international trading vessels. The Committee understands that most major Australian trading ports and many small ports already have waste reception facilities in place, either through a direct connection to the city's sewerage system or through the use of private contractors using tankers for its removal.
- 4.14 According to Mr Paul Nelson, the RIS:

draws attention to the ports of Geelong, Westernport and Port Hedland as not having facilities when we put this document together. We have since had discussions through the Australian Ports and Marine Authorities and determined that these ports now do have facilities in place ... realising that this Annex would come into force soon, most ports have been upgrading.¹⁵

- 4.15 Before a ship is put into service, it will be surveyed to ensure that its sewage disposal system meets the required standard. In Australia, this survey will be undertaken by the Australian Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA), as part of its flag State control function for Australian ships, or an authorised organisation.¹⁶
- 4.16 In the case of existing ships that match these criteria, the provisions of Annex IV will apply five years after the date of entry into force, that is, on 27 September 2008.

¹³ Veena Rampal, Transcript of Evidence, p. 29, and NIA, para. 15.

¹⁴ Veena Rampal, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 29.

¹⁵ Paul Nelson, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 33.

¹⁶ NIA, para. 14.

Industry impact

Recreation and tourism

4.17 The Committee was advised that as this Convention only applies to ships in excess of 400 gross tons, it was generally applicable only to commercial vessels.

Smaller vessels, such as ... tourist craft operating in the Great Barrier Reef ... are not subject to this convention but they are generally subject to very similar state legislation, much of which is emerging at the moment.¹⁷

Commercial fishing

4.18 The National Interest Analysis (NIA) states that as the Annex only applies to vessels on international voyages, the local fishing industry will not be impacted by this proposal.¹⁸

Livestock

- 4.19 The regulations in the Annex also apply to drainage from spaces containing live animals. ¹⁹ Australia has a growing livestock industry, primarily to the Middle East and South East Asia. The Committee was advised that Australia exported 826 000 head of cattle, worth \$545 million, in 2001.²⁰ The Committee was advised that little impact is foreseen on the livestock industry, as the ships that are involved in that industry are generally foreign registered vessels; the burden of ensuring appropriate certificates rests with those states.²¹
- 4.20 The Committee understands that the only other impact to this industry results from more thorough inspections at Australian ports after enactment of the appropriate legislation:

we will be able to go on board those ships and make sure they have the necessary arrangements in place. For those ships it would probably be holding tanks, which they would discharge once they get more than 12 miles offshore.²²

19 Paul Nelson, Transcript of Evidence, p. 33.

- 21 Paul Nelson, Transcript of Evidence, p. 33.
- 22 Paul Nelson, Transcript of Evidence, p. 33.

¹⁷ Paul Nelson, Transcript of Evidence, p. 31.

¹⁸ NIA, para. 27.

²⁰ RIS, para. 1.3.

Consultation

4.21 The Committee was advised that:

Since 1973, the international shipping industry has been aware that the IMO would be implementing sewage discharge standards, and this has been taken into account in the construction of ships since that time.

- 4.22 The Committee understands that the shipping industry has been consulted since the 1970s, when development of Annex IV commenced. The views of the states and the Northern Territory have been sought through the deliberations of the Australian Transport Council, and the Committee was advised that all jurisdictions have provided support for Annex IV. Submissions from the Governments of Victoria and Queensland were in favour of the amendments.²³
- 4.23 During the public hearing on 24 March 2003, the Committee heard evidence about the establishment and operation of the Australian Transport Council and the Standing Committee on Transport (SCOT)²⁴:

which comprises the CEOs of the transport agencies. And then under that body is a number of what are called modal groups. The modal group for marine is the Australian Maritime Group. It comprises representatives of the Commonwealth, states and territories'.²⁵

- 4.24 The Committee understands that the Australian Livestock Export Corporation was also consulted in relation to this Annex. The Committee was told that 'they have no concerns with the proposal as compliance will largely be the responsibility of the foreign registered vessels involved in the trade'.²⁶ The Committee was also advised that, 'as only cruise ships will be impacted, consultation with the local tourism sector was not required'.²⁷
- 4.25 According to the NIA and RIS, a broad range of industry groups and interested parties have been consulted at several stages over three decades, and the Committee is satisfied with the range and extent of

²³ Government of Queensland, *Submission 25*, and Government of Victoria, *Submission 26*.

²⁴ NIA, para. 15.

²⁵ Mr Robert Hogan, Transcript of Evidence, p. 33.

²⁶ NIA, para. 26.

²⁷ NIA, para. 27.

consultation and that all relevant parties have been adequately involved in the process. $^{\mbox{\tiny 28}}$

Entry into force

- 4.26 According to the NIA, Annex IV has only recently gained the necessary acceptance and will enter into force internationally on 27 September 2003.²⁹ Accession for Australia is dependent on the passage of domestic legislation. At the time of writing, the Maritime Legislation Amendment (Prevention of Pollution from Ships) Bill 2003 had passed through the House and was awaiting passage through the Senate.
- 4.27 The Committee expresses its concerns that the relevant legislation was introduced and has passed through the House of Representatives prior to the Committee reviewing the proposed treaty action and tabling its report. While the Committee accepts that binding action has not been taken in a strict sense, the introduction of enabling legislation to implement treaty obligations before the Committee has completed its review and reported to Parliament could undermine the workings of the Committee over time. It is, at least, in contravention of the spirit of the Committee's terms of reference.
- 4.28 The Committee also notes that neither was notice provided to the Committee of the introduction of the Maritime Legislation Amendment (Prevention of Pollution from Ships) Bill 2003, nor was a copy of the draft legislation provided to the Committee at any time during the period between the tabling of the proposed treaty and the tabling of the Committee's report. The Committee expresses the hope that this practice not be continued.
- 4.29 The treaty will enter into force for Australia three months after indication of Australia's acceptance is received by the IMO.³⁰ It is expected that the treaty will enter into force in Australia in 2003/2004.³¹
- 4.30 Given the Annex was first prepared in 1985, the Committee inquired as to the extended time required to bring it to fruition, and was

²⁸ NIA, paras. 21-25.

²⁹ NIA, para. 3.

³⁰ Ms Veena Rampal, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 29.

³¹ NIA, para. 4.

advised that the previous provisions related to ships of 200 gross tons and more undertaking domestic and international voyages. A survey in 2000 by the IMO revealed that the administrative burden created by the regulation of so many ships would be too onerous for many states.³²

4.31 After amendments were made the Annex now has enough signatories to enter into force.³³ While acceding to the Annex in its original form was not difficult for Australia:

there was an awareness that [it] would be amended in the future and we were a little uncomfortable committing ourselves to a treaty when we were uncertain of exactly what the final wording would be.³⁴

Concluding observations and Recommendation

- 4.32 The Committee understands that the regulations of Annex IV include special protection measures for the Great Barrier Reef that prohibit any operational discharges in the Reef area.³⁵ The Committee notes that this is the only sea area in the world to have such protection.
- 4.33 The Committee accepts that by becoming a party to Annex IV, Australia will be able to enforce the full range of controls on sewage systems on foreign and Australian flagged vessels on international voyages and ensure that consistent national and international standards can be applied to foreign ships, thereby protecting the Australian marine and coastal environments.

³² Veena Rampal, p. 30.

³³ Paul Nelson, *Transcript of Evidence*, pp. 30-31. At the time of writing, 91 countries had become party to Annex IV, representing 51.22 per cent of the world shipping tonnage.

³⁴ Paul Nelson, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 31.

³⁵ RIS, para. 4.4.

Recommendation 3

The Committee supports Annex IV of the Protocol of 1978 relating to the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as amended (MARPOL 73/78), done at London, 17 February 1978, revised text adopted at London, 13 March 2000, and recommends that binding treaty action be taken.

Recommendation 4

The Committee recommends that the role of the Committee be recognised by ensuring that, unless notice or reasons are provided, the Committee conclude its review of proposed treaty actions prior to the introduction of any enabling legislation.

5

International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-fouling Systems on Ships (the AFS Convention)

Introduction

- 5.1 The purpose of the Convention¹ is to ban the use of organotin compounds which act as biocides in anti-fouling paints on ships, specifically tributyl tin (TBT) based anti-fouling paints. From 1 January 2008, with minor exceptions,² ships shall be required to either remove any organotin compounds that are on their surfaces or to ensure that any organotin compounds on their external surfaces are sealed to prevent their leaching into the water.³
- 5.2 The Convention will enable Australia to enforce the full range of controls on TBT-based anti-fouling paints on foreign and Australian flagged vessels.

¹ International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-fouling Systems on Ships, done at London on 18 October 2001.

² The exemptions of Australian Defence Force vessels will be discussed later in the Chapter. See also paragraph 4.17 for further exclusions under the Convention.

³ Robert Alchin, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 34.

Anti-fouling Systems

- 5.3 Article 2.2 of the Convention defines an anti-fouling system as 'a coating, paint, surface treatment, surface or device that is used on a ship to control or prevent attachment of unwanted organisms'.
- 5.4 Anti-fouling systems are used to prevent the growth of algae, barnacles and other marine organisms on a ship's hull, enabling the ship's faster movement through the water, thus reducing fuel consumption.⁴ In the early days of sailing ships, lime and later arsenic were used to coat ships' hulls; anti-fouling paints using metallic compounds were later developed by the chemicals industry.⁵ Organotin-based compounds have been used since the 1970s. The Committee was advised that the most successful of these anti-fouling paints have been those which contain tributyl tin, which remains effective for up to five years.⁶

Effects of TBT

5.5 The harmful effects of organotin-based compounds on marine life, the environment and human health were first recognised in the early 1980s.⁷ In response to calls from the global community for international action, the International Maritime Organization (IMO) developed proposals for international regulations, which led to the conclusion of the International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-fouling Systems on Ships (AFS Convention).⁸

Environmental concerns

5.6 Scientific investigations have shown that TBT-based paints pose a substantial risk of toxicity and other chronic impacts at the species, habitat and ecosystem levels.⁹ Detrimental effects of these paints have been reported on ecologically and economically important marine organisms, such as oysters and molluscs. Further, contaminating

⁴ National Interest Analysis (NIA), para. 5; Transcript of Evidence, p. 34.

⁵ Source: International Maritime Organization (IMO) Website, www.imo.org/home.asp

⁶ Regulation Impact Statement (RIS), para. 1.1.; R.Alchin, Transcript of Evidence, p.34.

⁷ RIS, para. 1.2.

⁸ RIS, para. 1.10.

⁹ NIA, para. 5.

sediments have been found in many port areas around the world and the Committee understands that TBT is also highly toxic to a range of marine reef biota.¹⁰ The Victorian Government advised that 'the input of organotins has been listed as a Potentially Threatening Process under the *Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1998*.¹¹

5.7 According to the Regulation Impact Statement (RIS), a report by the Victorian Environmental Protection Authority in 1999 considered that:

organotins threatened biodiversity and ecosystem health, ecotourism and related activities valued at \$96 million each year and aquaculture and fisheries, particularly mollusc production valued at \$55 million each year.¹²

- 5.8 Further, 'there are strong indications that the presence of TBT-based anti-foulants at ship grounding sites may present on ongoing impediment to coral reef recovery'.¹³ The Queensland Government commented on the damage caused to the Great Barrier Reef from inappropriate disposal of blasting-waste containing organotin compounds and from a vessel's collision which exposed the compound on the hull to the surrounding waters.¹⁴
- 5.9 The Committee was advised that if Australia does not adopt this Convention, the level of environmental protection in Australia will be lower than internationally adopted standards.¹⁵

Health impacts

- 5.10 In recent years concerns have also been raised about the impact of TBT on human health, especially people who consume large quantities of seafood in their diet.¹⁶ The possible harm to human health as a result of the consumption of affected seafood is recognised in the preamble to the Convention.
- 5.11 The RIS states at paragraph 1.2 that research in Australia conducted in the late 1980s found evidence of TBT contamination in Sydney rock

- 12 RIS, para. 1.3.
- 13 RIS, para. 1.8.
- 14 Queensland Government, Submission 25.
- 15 NIA, para. 10.
- 16 NIA, para. 6.

¹⁰ NIA, para. 5.

¹¹ Government of Victoria, *Submission 26*.

oysters. Other adverse effects have been reported on a range of invertebrate species near ports and marinas around the Australian coast.

5.12 The RIS states further that while the threat to human health has not yet been studied in detail, organotins may disrupt the function of human immune cells, particularly those which fight infection.¹⁷ The Committee notes with concern the results of a recent United States (US) study which showed that shipyard workers exposed to TBT even for a few minutes developed 'breathing difficulties, skin irritation, dizziness, and flu-like symptoms'.¹⁸

Implementation

- 5.13 The Committee understands that the Federal Cabinet agreed to the banning of organotin-based antifouling paints through *Australia's Oceans Policy* in 1998. The Policy commits Australia to banning the application of TBT to vessels being repainted in Australian docks from 1 January 2006.¹⁹
- 5.14 The Committee was advised that two elements have assisted with the domestic implementation of Convention²⁰:
 - The States and the Northern Territory have implemented legislation which prohibits the application of anti-fouling paint containing organotins on vessels less than 25 metres in length. In some cases this legislation extends to the application of such paints on other structures (e.g. piers).
 - The Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (formerly known as the National Registration Authority for Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals) has set in place a process for the deregistration of anti-fouling paints containing TBT.
- 5.15 Ratification of the Convention by Australia is dependent on the passage of domestic legislation: the Protection of the Sea (Harmful Anti-fouling Systems) Bill 2003 is expected to be introduced during the Spring 2003 parliamentary sittings.²¹ The Australian Maritime

¹⁷ RIS, para. 1.5.

¹⁸ RIS, para. 1.5.

¹⁹ RIS, para. 1.19.

²⁰ Robert Alchin, *Transcript of Evidence*, p. 35.

²¹ NIA, para. 4.

Safety Authority (AMSA) will also make appropriate subordinate legislation such as Marine Orders and will also develop Instructions to Surveyors and/or Class Societies, as necessary, based on guidelines being developed by the IMO.²²

5.16 Survey and certification of vessels will be required under Article 10 of the Convention. According to the National Interest Analysis (NIA):

the Australian Maritime Safety Authority and/or an authorised organisation will undertake this role as part of its flag State control function for Australian ships.²³

5.17 The Committee heard that the Convention has certification requirements for two different groups of ships.²⁴ Ships of 400 gross tonnage and above engaged in international voyages will be required to undergo an initial survey before the ship is put into service and a survey when the anti-fouling systems are changed or replaced. This excludes fixed or floating platforms, floating storage units, and floating production storage and offtake units used by the oil production industry. Ships of 24 metres or more in length, but less than 400 gross tonnage engaged in international voyages are required to carry a compliance declaration signed by the owner or owner's authorised agent.

Obligations

- 5.18 The Convention provides for inspection of ships and detention for violations. Each party must also prohibit and enforce violations of the Convention under its domestic law. Compensation may be provided for any loss or damage suffered if a ship is unduly detained or delayed while undergoing inspection for possible violations of the Convention.²⁵
- 5.19 The RIS states that:

The Convention will not apply to any warship, naval auxiliary, or other ships owned or operated by the country and used only on government non-commercial service.²⁶

²² NIA, para. 21.

²³ NIA, para. 16.

²⁴ Robert Alchin, Transcript of Evidence, p. 35.

²⁵ NIA, para. 19.

²⁶ RIS, para. 1.13.

5.20 The Committee understands that, while IMO environmental conventions generally do not apply to naval vessels, Australian Defence Force vessels seek to comply with international environmental standards as far as practicable.²⁷ This commitment is recognised in Australia's Oceans Policy.

Impact on States and Territories

- 5.21 Implementation of the Convention will establish a national approach to TBT-based paints by complementing current State and Territory regulations and policies.
- 5.22 The RIS states that the implementing legislation will form part of the 'Protection of the Sea' suite of acts which give effect to the IMO environmental conventions:

As such, it will apply to all State/NT coastal and internal waters, with suitable 'roll-back' provision preserving the operation of State/NT legislation.²⁸

- 5.23 The RIS also states that existing State and Northern Territory legislation applicable to vessels less than 25 metres in length will need to be examined in detail to ensure there are no omissions, inconsistencies or duplication of requirements, although no significant difficulties are foreseen.²⁹
- 5.24 Submissions received from three state governments (Tasmania, Queensland and Victoria) supported ratification of the Convention.

Industry impact

- 5.25 The Committee was advised that Australian industry has been aware of the Convention and, depending on the docking cycle of ships, alternatives to TBT-based paints are already in use.³⁰
- 5.26 In terms of the certification requirement, the RIS states that the impact on the Australian shipping industry will be minimal. Australian ships undergo regular surveys by approved Classification Societies to

²⁷ RIS, para. 1.19.

²⁸ NIA, para. 20; RIS, para. 4.13.

²⁹ RIS, para. 4.13.

³⁰ Robert Alchin, Transcript of Evidence, p. 34.

verify compliance with a broad range of IMO conventions relating to safety and protection of the marine environment.³¹

Costs

5.27 Regarding costs to the Australian Government, the NIA states at paragraph 24 that:

costs of enforcement for the Convention will be low as established inspection and certification procedures applied to other IMO environmental conventions are already in place.

- 5.28 The Committee was advised that costs to paint manufacturers if the Convention is ratified will be minimal. According to the RIS, the largest Australian paint manufacturer estimates that anti-fouling paint represented 2 per cent of total sales. ³²
- 5.29 The Committee understands that alternative non-TBT-based antifouling paints are readily available in Australia and overseas. The RIS states that while short-term alternatives to TBT-based anti-fouling paints are likely to be copper or silicone-based, the majority have been developed for the pleasure craft market and are unsuitable for commercial trading vessels.³³ The Committee was advised of the concerns raised by the Australian Shipowners Association about the limited alternatives to TBT-based paints currently available in Australia; the small Australian market and lack of competition has resulted in premium costs.³⁴
- 5.30 The RIS states that competition from the availability of more paints will reduce these costs, although there are likely to be some cost implications for shipowners in the short term, depending on a vessel's dry-docking cycle. The Committee understands that there are currently many more alternative paints available overseas, and that discussions have been held with the National Registration Authority with the view to streamlining the assessment and registration process.³⁵

³¹ RIS, para. 4.11.

³² RIS, para. 4.12.

³³ RIS, para. 4.7.

³⁴ RIS, paras 4.7 and 5.1.

³⁵ RIS, para. 4.8.

Consultation

- 5.31 Several parties including industry, state and territories, paint manufacturers and environmental groups have been consulted.³⁶ The Committee is satisfied with the range and extent of consultation and that all relevant parties have been adequately involved in the treatymaking process.
- 5.32 The Committee notes that ongoing consultation is planned if changes to the AFS Convention are proposed, or problems are experienced by industry with regard to the Convention.³⁷

Entry into Force

- 5.33 Australia signed the Convention on 19 August 2002. It will enter into force internationally 12 months after the date at which at least 25 States representing 25 per cent of the world's merchant shipping tonnage have become Parties to the Convention. As stated at paragraph 4.15, ratification by Australia is dependent on the passage of domestic legislation: the Protection of the Sea (Harmful Antifouling Systems) Bill 2003 is expected to be introduced during the Spring 2003 parliamentary sittings.³⁸
- 5.34 The NIA and RIS suggest that most countries are generally in favour of this Convention and are adopting the standards outlined in the Convention regardless of whether they are contracting parties. The Committee was concerned however that, as at 30 April 2003, only three states had ratified the Convention.³⁹ The Committee was told that other states are currently undergoing the process of ratification and an 'en masse' signing is expected in due course.⁴⁰

40 Robert Alchin, Transcript of Evidence, p. 35 and Paul Nelson, Transcript of Evidence, p. 36.

³⁶ These consultations were described in the NIA at paras 25-7.

³⁷ RIS, para. 7.4.

³⁸ NIA, para. 4.

³⁹ These states are Denmark, Antigua and Barbuda and Nigeria. These states represent 2.12 per cent of the world merchant tonnage.

Concluding observations

- 5.35 The Committee recognises the leadership that Australia has demonstrated in many areas of marine environment protection and the important role played by the international maritime industry in underpinning Australia's international trade. The Committee also accepts that, without international treaty-level action, there would be insufficient impetus for the shipping and marine coating industries to restrict the use of harmful anti-fouling systems.
- 5.36 The Committee notes the comprehensive information contained in the Regulation Impact Statement concerning anti-fouling paint compound and manufacture, the increasing acceptance and availability of alternatives to TBT-based products and consultation undertaken in the development of the Convention.
- 5.37 The Committee also understands that safer alternatives to TBT antifouling alternatives exist and should last from between three and five years, which should be suitable for the dry-docking cycle of most ships.⁴¹

Recommendation 5

The Committee supports the International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-fouling Systems on Ships and recommends that binding treaty action be taken.

Julie Bishop MP Committee Chair

June 2003

⁴¹ Andre Mayne, Transcript of Evidence, p. 37.

A

Appendix A – Additional Comments by Hon Dick Adams MP

The undersigned member of the Treaties Committee believes the time has been reached where the treaty making of the Government is starting to impinge on the federal system of government in Australia.

I believe that a free trade agreement with Singapore incorporates new clauses that could impose big costs and major changes to our State Government's operations.

I would cite the Investment State Dispute Settlement Provisions that appeared in the NAFTA agreement. This is a new concept for an economy as advanced and robust as Singapore's. I am conscious of the flow-on implications of this treaty to future treaty action. The evidence from the Senate estimates committee indicates this to be so.

Local government, I believe, has not had an opportunity to discuss this matter, though this treaty could have major implications.

I recommend that the Treaties Committee hold a full inquiry into this treaty regarding its risk to Australia – the winners and losers.

I also recommend that the Government not go forward with this treaty unless each of the States consent in writing to the legal liability imposed by the Investor State clause in the agreement.

I believe that the positive list approach is a more open approach and gives those affected something to look at and to react to, as opposed to the negative list approach which is open to people being caught out by not understanding what is agreed to.

Hon Dick Adams MP

В

Appendix B – Additional Comments by Senator Gavin Marshall and Senator Andrew Bartlett

There are two issues which we have substantial reservations about. These issues prevent us from supporting Recommendation 2.

- 1. We consider that in the best interests of transparency and for best consultative practice, the Committee should have conducted public hearings regarding this treaty. We strongly recommend that future treaties of this nature being considered by the Committee conduct public hearings and take submissions from all interested parties; and
- 2. We believe that the States and Territories should have been directly advised by the Committee of the specific impact the proposed treaty would have upon States and Territories. States and Territories should have been required to specifically consent to the making of the treaty. In future, when the Committee is considering treaties of this nature, States and Territories should be specifically requested for a direct response, thereby assuring the Committee that they have effectively consented to the making of the treaty. We believe that opportunities for comment should also be extended to representatives of local government.

Senator Gavin Marshall

Senator Andrew Bartlett

С

Appendix C - Submissions

- 1.1 Australian Patriot Movement (Supplementary)
- 1.2 Australian Patriot Movement (Supplementary)
- 1.3 Australian Patriot Movement (Supplementary)
- 2 National Association of Testing Authorities , Australia
- 3 Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade
- 3.1 Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (Supplementary)
- 3.2 Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (Supplementary)
- 4 Ms Rosie Wagstaff
- 5 Ms Marion Woof
- 6 Ms Leonie Stubbs
- 7 Mr Ron Clifton
- 8 Ms Gaele Sobott
- 9 Australian Fair Trade and Investment Network (AFTINET)
- 10 Sydney Branch of the Amalgamated Manufacturing Workers' Union - Retired Members Association (AMWU RMA)
- 11 Quaker Peace and Justice

- 12 Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association of New South Wales Inc.
- 13 The Institution of Engineers, Australia
- 14 The Grail Centre
- 15 Australian Manufacturing Workers' Union
- 16 Australian Film Commission
- 17 The Media, Entertainment and Arts Alliance
- 18 Reverend Christopher Freestone
- 19 Darani Lewers
- 20 Ms Jean Braithwaite
- 21 Australian Council of Trade Unions
- 22 The Australian Coalition for Cultural Diversity
- 23 The Victorian Greens
- 24 Tasmanian Government
- 25 Queensland Government
- 26 Victorian Government
- 27 Uniting Care NSW.ACT
- 28 Senator the Hon Peter Cook
- 29 Mr Stephen Deady
- 30 South Australian Government

D

Appendix D - Witnesses

Monday, 24 March 2003 - Canberra

Attorney-General Department

Mr Stephen Bouwhius, Acting Assistant Secretary, Office of International Law

Australian Maritime Safety Authority

Mr John Gillies, Principal Advisor, Maritime Safety and Environmental Strategy

Mr Paul Nelson, Manager, Environment Protection Standards

Department of Agriculture Fisheries & Forestry

Mr Andre Mayne, Senior Manager, Product Integrity- Animal and Plant Health

Department of Environment and Heritage

Ms Robyn Bromley, Director, Marine and Water Division

Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

Mr Richard Bush, Assistant Secretary, Office of Trade Negotiations

Dr Milton Churche, Services and Investment Negotiator, Free Trade Agreements, Office of Trade Negotiations

Mr Stephen Deady, Special Negotiator, Office of Trade Negotiations

Mr Alan Fewster, Executive Director, Treaties Secretariat, Legal Branch

Mr Graeme Lade, Director, Philippines, Singapore and Malaysia Section

Mr David Richardson, Director, World Trade Organisation Regional and Free Trade Agreements Section, Office of Trade Negotiations

Mr Russell Wild, Executive Officer, International Law and Transnational Crime Section, Legal Branch

Department of the Environment and Heritage

Ms Anne-Marie Delahunt, Assistant Secretary, Approvals and Wildlife Division

Department of Transport and Regional Services

Mr Robert Alchin, Policy Officer, Transport Planning Branch

Mr Robert Hogan, Assistant Secretary, Transport Regulation Division

Ms Veena Rampal, Assistant Director, Transport Regulation Division

Monday, 16 June 2003 - Canberra

Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

Dr Milton Churche, Services and Investment Negotiator, Free Trade Agreements, Office of Trade Negotiations

Mr Stephen Deady, Special Negotiator, Office of Trade Negotiations

Mr Alan Fewster, Executive Director, Treaties Secretariat, Legal Branch

Mr Graeme Lade, Director, Philippines, Singapore and Malaysia Section

Mr David Richardson, Director, World Trade Organisation Regional and Free Trade Agreements Section, Office of Trade Negotiations

Mr Russell Wild, Executive Officer, International Law and Transnational Crime Section, Legal Branch

_
F
F
F
E
E
E
Ε
E
Е
E
E

Appendix E - Exhibits

1	' General Agreement on Trade in Services within the World Trade Organisation and the proposed bilateral Australia-USA FTA', Dr Alison Healey
2	'Advancing the National Interest Australia's Foreign and Trade Policy', Australian Film Commission
3	'AFTINET Bulletin - 9 April 2003 Singapore Free Trade Agreement', Dr Pat Ranald

F

Appendix F – Parties consulted

State and Territory Governments

The Hon Clare Martin MLA, Chief Minister of the Northern Territory Government The Hon Geoff Gallop MLA, Premier of Western Australia The Hon Steve Bracks MLA, Premier of Victoria The Hon Jim Bacon MLA, Premier of Tasmania The Hon Michael Rann MLA, Premier of South Australia The Hon Robert Carr MLA, Premier of New South Wales The Hon Peter Beattie MLA, Premier of Queensland Mr Jon Stanhope MLA, Chief Minister of the ACT The Hon M. Polley MLA, Speaker, Legislative Assembly, Tasmanian Parliament The Hon Don Wing MLC, President, Legislative Council, Tasmanian Parliament The Hon Peter Lewis MLA, Speaker, Legislative Assembly, South Australian Parliament The Hon Angus Redford MLC, President, Legislative Council, South Australian Parliament The Hon Judy Maddigan MLA, Speaker, Legislative Assembly, Victorian Parliament The Hon Monica Gould MLC, President, Legislative Council, Victorian Parliament Mr Wayne Berry MLA, Speaker, Australian Capital Territory Legislative Assembly

The Hon Fred Riebeling MLA, Speaker, Legislative Assembly, Western Australian Parliament

The Hon John Cowdell MLC, President, Legislative Council, Western Australian Parliament

The Hon John Aquilina MP, Speaker, Legislative Assembly, New South Wales Parliament

The Hon Dr Meredith Burgmann MLC, President, Legislative Council, New South Wales Parliament

Mrs Loraine Braham MLA, Speaker, Northern Territory Legislative Assembly

Mr Brent Davis, Director of Trade, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry

Mr Greg Wood, Manager, Trade Start, Australian Business Limited

Mr Lee Purnell, Executive Director, International, Australian Industry Group

Ms Su McCluskey, Director Policy, Business Council of Australia

Mr Matthew Warren, Assistant Director Policy, Australian Food and Grocery Council

Mr Andrew McKellar, Executive Officer, Federal Chamber of Automotive Industries

Mr Peter Upton, Chief Executive, Federation of Automotive Products Manufacturers

Mr Martin Jones, Chief Executive, Plastics and Chemicals Industries Association of Australia

Mr Michael Godfrey, Manager International Marketing, Australian Dairy Corporation

Mr Anthony McDonald, Executive Director, Council of Textile Fashion Industries of Australia

Ms Kerryn Caulfield, Fabrics Australia

Ms Maureen Barron, Chair, Australian Film Commission

Council of Small Business Organisations of Australia

Mr Ben Fargher, Policy Manager Trade and Quarantine, National Farmers' Federation

Dr Pat Ranald, Principal Policy Officer, Australian Fair Trade and Investment Network

Mr Kieran Schneemann, Chief Executive Officer, Medicines Australia

Mr Alan Matheson, International Officer, Australian Council of Trade Unions

Ms Mina Hayashi, Policy and International Co-ordinator, Association of Consulting Engineers of Australia

Mr James Galloway, Director of Technical Policy and Regulatory, Australian Electrical and Electronic Manufacturers Association

Mr Rob Drurie, Executive Director, Australian Information Industries Association

Mr Ian Mayer, Marketing Manager, Australian Society of Practicing Accountants

Ms Kristine Brown, Government Relations Manager, Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Mr Robert Drummond, General Manager Members Services, Insurance Council of Australia

Mr Michael Lavarch, Secretary General, Law Council of Australia

Ms Leanne Hardwicke, Director of Public Policy, Engineers Australia

Ms Marilyn Gendek, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Nursing Council

Ms Christine Harvey, Chief Executive Officer, Royal Australian Institute of Architects

Ms Christine Harding, Architects Accreditation Council of Australia

Mr John Mullarvey, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Vice-Chancellor's Committee

Mr Sam Tolley, Chief Executive, Australian Wine and Brandy Corporation

Mr Dom Cerneaz, Manager, National Association of Testing Authorities

General Secretary, Mildwater and Associates, Singapore Australia Chamber of Commerce and Industry

Australia Patriot Movement

Greenpeace

and over fifty private citizens who have expressed an interest in the Committee's review of international treaties.